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EXTR VCTS FROM THE MINUTES OF THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE
LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL.

c.

Misutes Xo. 4. \Ved5E8Cat, 31 August, 1898. Extbt G.

lLL.vw«ni IUb«ov« Cobpohat.ox Act Fubther Bill {Ibrm.I
__Mr Kethel moved, pursuant to Notice (<i« oy leave amendea),

(1 ) That the Iliawarrn Harbour and Land Corporation Act Further Amendment Bill be referred 
to a Sedect Committee for conaidoration ao.l report, with power and authority, if necessary, to usit
the works of the company at Lake Illawarra. . • m- n.,.. Mr Trickett
(2.) That such Committee consist of the following ^ *
Dr? Cullen, Mr. Brown, Mr. Jacob, Mr. Hyam, Mr. Macintoah, Mr. Dalton, Mr. Hughes, and the

Mover.
Question put and passed.

5.

Mixi-TE.s No. 13. Thcbspay, 20 Octoueh, 1898. Estht 5.
Illawahea Harboub AND Land Cobpobation Act Fuetiikr Amendment Bill Mr. Kethel, 

as Chairman, brought up the Report from, and laid upon the Table the Minutes of Procwdings 
of, and Evidence taken before, the Select Committee for whose consideration and report this Bill 
was referred on the 3lst August last, together with a copy of the Bill at amended ami agreed to
in the Committee.
Ordered to be printed.

CONTENTS.
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ExtracU from the Minuter ........................... *................................................ g
Beport............................................................................................ g
Proceedings of the Committee..........................................................  4
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ILLAWARRA HARBOUR AND LAND CORPORATION ACT FURTHER
AMENDMENT BILL.

REPORT.

The Select Committee of the Legislative Council, for whose consideration and 
report was referred on the 31st day of August, 1898, the Illaicarra Marhour 
and Land Corporation Act further Amendment Lillf—beg to report to your 
Honorable Ilouse as follows:—

Your Committee have examined the witnesses named in the List* (whose •raepwa. 
evidence w'ill be found appended hereto), and the Preamble having been satisfactorily 
proved, they proceeded to consider the several clauses of the Bill, when it was found 
desirable to make certain amendments as well as to insert a new clause in lieu of 
clause 4 of the Bill as printed.

Your Committee now have the honor to lay before your Honorable House the 
Bill with the amendments above alluded to.

A. KETHEL,
Chairman.

No, 2 Committee Room^
Sydneyf 20/A Ocioher^ 189S.
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rrvOCEEDiNGS OE THE co:m:mittee

'I he Hon. S. H. llyam, 
The Hon. T. Dalton.

WEDyESnA F, 7 SEPTEMUEIi, 1898.
MsMutne I’risknt:—

The Hon. .A. Kethel, I . The Hon. ^V^ J. Trickctt.
The Hon. A. H. Jacob, •
The Hon. (t. Day, |

Entry from the Minutes of the Proceedings of the Ix>gi9lative Council, appointing the Committee,
read br the Clerk. . . ,

'Petition for leave to introduce the Bill, together with printed copies of the Bill, referred before the
Committee.

Mr. Kethel. on motion of Mr. Jacob, called to the Chair.
Present:—W. H. Moseley, Esquire, of the firm of Billvard, Moseley, and Andrews (Solicifors/or

the Bill). ^ ^ .
Frank Jarvis, Esquire, Secretary to the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation, called in, eworn,

and examined.
Witness produced, as an Exhibit only, a tracing showing the course of the proposed Branch 

Railway referred to in the Preamble.
Witness handed in a letter dated 16 December, 1895, under the seal of tlio Central Illawarra 

ifunicipal Corporation, consenting to an application by the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation to 
allow their proposed branch railway to the works of tho Smelting Company of Australia to cross the 
Kanahooka Koad at the place and in tho manner shown on plan. Also a letterdated tho 12 August, 189S. 
under the seal of the said Corporation, conveying the approval by tho Council of the Draft Extending 
Bill. , , .

Witness also handed in a letter from the Camden Exploration Company (Limited), dated 2nd 
September, 1898, approving of tho Bill; also a letter dated LUh August, 1898, from the hoti. Secretary of 
the Dapto Progress Committee, expressing the unanimous concurrence of the Committee in tho opinion 
that a harbour at Lake Illawarra would bo a great boon to the locality; and a aimil.ar letter from the 
Secretary of the Dapto Agricultural and Horticultural Society.

Witness withdrew.
Thomas Andrew de Wolf, a director of tho Illawarra Smelting Works, called in, sworn, ar.fl 

examined.
Witness withdrew.
Committee adjourned until To-morrow at 2 30 p.m.

THVRSDAT, 8 SErTEMBER, 189S.
MkMBERS PllESENT :—

The Honorable A. Kethel in the Chair.
The Hon. A. H. Jacob, The Hon. G, Dar,
The Hon. W. J. Trickett, The Hon. J. Hughes,

The Hon. J. Macintosh.
Present:—W. H. Moseley, Esquire (Solicitorfor the Bill).
Hugh McLachlan, Esquire, Secretary to the Commi.«sioncra for Railways, called in, sworn, and 

examined.
Witness handed in a proviso, in relation to the extension of branch railwavs, that the Commis­

sioners desired to have inserted at tho end of clause 2 of tho Bill. ’
Witness withdrew.
James Robson, an officer of the Revenue Branch of the Treasury, called in, sworn, and examined. 
Witness withdrew’.
AValter Andrew Harpur, civil engineer, called in, sworn, and examined.
Witness withdrew.
Committee adjourned until Thursday next, at 2 30 p.m.

TRURSDAT. 15 SEPTEMBER, 1898,
Members Present:—

The Honorable A. Kethel in the Chair.
The Hon. S. H. Hyam,
The Hon. W. J. Trickett,
The Hon. J. Macintosh,

The Hon. A. Brown.
Present :—W. H. Moseley, Esquire (Solicitor fur the Rill).
John Higginson, Esquire, called in, sworn, and examined.
Witness withdrew.
Ernest Liulwig Adolph AA^eiuberg called in, sworn, and examined. 
Witness withdrew.
Thomas Andrew de AVolf recalled and further examined.
AVitness withdrew.
Committee adjourned until Thursday next at 2 30 p.m.

Tho Hon. A. H. Jacob. 
The Hon. John Hughes. 
The Hon. G. Dav,

TJWRSDAI



THURSDAY, 22 SEPTEMBER, 180S.

Members Phesest:—
The Hon. A. Kethel in the Chair.

The Hon. A. II. Jacob, The Hon. \V. J. Trichett.
The Hon. S. H. Hyam, The Hon. G. Day.

Present:—W. H. Moseley, Esquire {Solicitorfor the Bill).
liobert Amos, Public Works Contractor, called in. sworn, and examined.
Witness produced a copy of his original contract with the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation. 
Witness withdrew.
Stephen Henderson, Esqtiire, Civil Engineer, called in, sworn, and examined.
AV'itnesa produced, ns an exhibit only, a plan of the proposed works.
Witness withdrew. *
Tho Clerk handed in a letter from the Secretary to the Soutlicrn Coal Company (Limited) 

requesting permission to give evidence to assist tho Committee. *
Ordered,—Tliat tho Clerk write to the .Secretary, desiring to know the names of the persons 

proposed to be submitted for examination, and also the direction in which their evidence will trend. 
Committee adjourned until Wednesday next at 2 30 p.m.

WEDXESDAr, 28 SEPTEMBER, 1898.

Meiibers Preskvt:—
The Hon. A. Kethel in the Chair.

The Hon. S. II. Hyam, j The Hon. G. Day,
The Hon. W. J. Trickett.

Tiobert .\mo8 recalled and further examined.
Witness produced, ns an exhibit only, a tender dated the 22nd April, 1S97, for the carrying out of 

the Imrbour and other minor works, accepted rerbally by Mr. Armstrong, the Managing Director of the 
Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation.

Witness withdrew.
'I’he Clerk handed in a letter he had received from the Secretary to the Southern Coal Company, 

conlainitig the names of tho persons whom tho company desired to be e.xamincd by tho Committee, and 
setting forth particularly the description of evidence they proposed to give.

Tho Chairman informed the Committee he had received a letter from the Secretary to the 
Illawarra Harbour and J<and Corporation, protesting against the proposed evidence being received, as it 
will be all in favour of a scheme proposed to be carried out at tho State expense, and stating that it is 
hardly fair that his compaav's Dill should be used os a vehicle for a further attempt to place their views 
before Parliament.

Room cleared.
Committee deliberated.
Andrew Armstrong {Managing Director of the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation {Limited) 

called in, sworn, and examined,
"Witness withdrew.
Committee deliberated.
Committee adjounied until To-morrow week at 2'.30 p.m.

THURSDAY, 0 OCTOBER, 1898.

Members Present:—
The Hon. A. Kethel, in the Chair.

The Hon, A, H. Jacob, 't'he Hon. W. J. Trickett,
The Hon. S. H. Hyam, The Hon. J. Hughes,
The Hon. G. Day, Tho Hon. Dr. Cullen.

The Clerk, by direction of the Chairman, read the letters dated respectively the 21st and 23rd 
September, 1898, from tho Secretary to tho Southern Coal Company (Limited), asking that certain 
evidence therein tendered may be accepted, (Ordered to be printed ; vide Appendix.)

Committee deliberated.
Mr. Trickett moved,—That the request contained in the letters from theSeeretarv to the Southern 

Coal Company (Limited), dated respectively the 21st and 23rd days of September, ultimo, that the 
gentlemen therein mentioned be permitted to give evidence before the Committee in relation to the matter 
under consideration, be agreed to.

Committee deliberated.
Question put.
Committee divided.

Ayes, 1. Noes, 5.
Mr. Trickett.

And so it was resolved in the negative.
Committee deliberated.
Committee adjourned until 2 p.m. on Tuesday next.

Mr. Jacob, 
Mr. Hyam, 
iUr. Hughes, 
Mr. Dav,
Dr. Cullen.

TCESDA
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TUESDAY, 11 OCTOBER, 1898.
MKStnE»8 Pbesext :—

The lion. A. Kethel in the Chair.
The Kon. W. J. Trickett, The lion. S. H. Hyam,
The Hon. J. Hughea, The Hon. G. Day,

The Hon. Dr. Cullen.
Present :~'\\MI. Moseley, Eaqxiire. , ,, , . ,
Alexander Armstronff, Eaquiro, recalled nna further exammed. .
Witness produced a summary and list of shareholders dated 2Sth “ j ‘K?

list of sharoholcfers in the Illawarra Harbour and Railway Corporation (Limited). 23, Tveadenhall-street,

London.
Witness withdrew. ,
Thomas Andrew de Wolf recalled and further examined.
Wituese withdrew.
Committee deliberated.
Committee adjourned.

WEDNESDAY, 19 OCTOBER, 1898.
Meubers Present :—

The Hon. A. Kethel in the Chair.
The Hon. A. H. Jacob, | The Hon. S. H. Hyam,

Tho Hon. J. Dalton.
Printed copies of the Bill before the Committee.
Preamble read.
tjuestion,—“That this preamble stand part of the Bill, —agreed to.
Parties called in and informed accordingly.
Clause 1 read and agreed to.
Clause 2 read, amended, and agreed to.
Clause 3 read, amended, and agreed to.
Clause 4 read and ditagreed to.
New clause, to stand clause 4 of tho Bill, read, considered, and agreed to.
Clause 5 read and agreed to.
Chairman requested to report the Bill to the House with amendments.

ft

SCHEDULE OF AMENDMENTS.
Page 3, clause 2. At the end of chause add the following proviso “ Provided also that no extension of any

branch line excepting within the lands owned by the Corporation at the commence­
ment of this Act shall be proceeded with until after the approval of the Governor 
shall have been obtained.”

3, „ 3, line 15. Omit “ under this authority.”
3, „ 3, 20. Omit “ thereby” intert “ hereby.”
3, „ 4, Omit clause 4, insert the following new clause to stand clause 4 of the Bill:—

4. The conditions imposed under section one of the Principal Act shall be completed in accordance 
with the provisions specified therein, within the term of two years from the twentieth day of December, 
one thousand eight hundred and ninety-eight, subject, however, to the Governor having the right by 
proclamation at any time before the twentieth day of December, one thousand nine hundred, to direct 
that in the public interest the entrance and channel described in section one of the Principal Act shall 
be formed to a depth of twenty-throe feet at low tide in lieu of the channel described in such section one. 
And the Corporation shall, within four years from the date of such proclamation, form the said entrance 
and channel to the said depth of twenty-three feet:

Provided always that the sum of ten thousand pounds deposited by the Corporation with the 
Colonial Treasurer on tho twentieth day of December, one thousand eight hundred and ninety-seven, 
shall be retained by him as a security for the due completion of the work as in the Principal Act as 
amended or in the said proclamation appointed, notwithstanding anything in the proviso to section one of 
the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation Act Amendment Act oi 1895, wliich proviso is hereby 
extended in conformity with this .^ct. Such deposit shall not be liable to forfeiture until the time herein 
or by the said proclamation appointed for the completion of the work. And should the entrance and 
channel he not formed as aforesahl, all harbour rights and privileges acquired by the said Corporation 
under the Principal Act, the Amending Act, and by this Act, may ho declared null and void. And all 
reclaimed land shall revert to the Crown. And the said deposit of ten thousand pounds shall be liable to 
forfeiture : Provided that section one of the Principal Act shall shall be read and construed as if the term 
mentioned in such section had been ten years from the commencement of the said Principal Act instead 
of seven years as therein mentioned.

LIST OF WITNESSES.
?AG£.

F. Jarvis, Secretary to the Illawarra HarI>our ami Laml Corporatioa ......................... 7
T. A. de Wolf, Director of the Illawarra Harbour ami Hailway Corporation, London 11, 23, 34
H. McLachlan, Secretary to Railway Conimiaaionera............ ......................................... ’jo ^
J, Robaon, Officer of tlie Trcaaury...................................................................... * 14
W. A. Harper, Cml Engineer........................... ...................... .. 14
J. Higginson, Mine Proprietor..............................................................................18
E. L. A. Weinl>cre, Mining Blngtneer ................................................................. 20
R. Amos, l^iblic Works Contractor ............................. ......... ....................... ^ 05 ^
S* Henderwm, Cinl Engineer ............................................................... .................... 2g
A. Armstrong, Managing Director of the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation 30
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THE SELECT COMMITTEE

OX THK

ILLAWARRA HARBOUR AND LAND CORPOR VTION
ACT FURTHER AMENDMENT BILL.

WED2^ESDAY, 7 SEPTEMBER, 189S.

The IIon. A. KETHEL in the Chair.
Hon. a. H. JACOB, 
Hon. G. DAT.

Hon. T. DALTON.

Hon. W. j. TRICKETT, 
Hon. S. H. HYAM,

W. H. Moseley. Esquire, solicitor, appeared on behalf of the promoters of the Bill.

Frank Jarvis called in, sworn, and examined :—
1. Chairman:] What is your position ? I am sccretarv to the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation
(Limited). ^
2. You produce a copy of the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation Act of 1800 ? A'es.
3. That is the Act referred to in the preamble of the Bill now before the Legislative Council ? Yes.
4. You also produce the certificate of incorporation of the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation 
(Limited) ? Yes ; dated the 29th October, 1888.
5. Mr. Moseley.] What powers wore given to the corporation by the Act of 1890? To form and maintain 
an entrance and passage between the South Pacific Ocean and the waters of Lake Illawarra. and the 
other powers y/hieh are set forth in the preamble.
«. Mr. Jncoh.] The Act of 1890 was amended by an Act passed in Decertiber, ISO.',? Yes; T produce a
copy of the amending Act. Tliat Act gave us an extension of one year from the 20th dav of December,
1897, for the completion of the works under certain conditious. among which was thepavinent of £10 000 
into the Treasury on or before the 20th December, 1897. * ’
7. Were there any other conditions named in the amending Act? There were the s.amo conditions as
those which were incorporated in the Principal Act. In addition to those conditions certain clauses were 
put in in reference to the Goyernor having power to proclaim public riiads or highways crossing our rail­
way, and in reference to tho company having to carry the road across the railway, or "the railway across 
the road, as the case might be. ' *
8. Mr. Moseley.] What condition was there with reference to the railway ? Seciion 2 says—

That one of the railways mentioned in section thirty of the Principal Act shall l>e constructed and brouaht into use
; anasectaon 
ears from the

9. You had to construct and bring into use one of tho railways rnentioned before the EOtb December
1895? Yes. '
10. As to the next point In the preamble; as a matter of fact, do you know that industries have been

estabIi^hed

F. Jarrif.

7 Sept., 1898.
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F. JwTis. established in the locality? Yes; for instance, there are tho works of the Smelting Company of Austraha

7 that company done? They have erected largo smelting works on the shores of Lake

12.^Fo7what purposes ? I'or general smelting purposes, and for the refining of ore,—copper, gold, silver—

you anv notion of the approiimate cost of those works? ^
about £120.000 have been eipendcd ; but that is a point upon which the manager of the smelting
company will be able to give you information. ^ j a TEof oil T
14. JIr‘ Moteleif.} You only know that large and expensive works have been constructed ? That is all 1

15!”\Vhat connection have tlioso works with tho works of your company ? They arc connected with our
railway system bv a branch line. , i „16. Mr. Trickeit’.] What do you mean by your works ? I mean tho part of our railways which we have
already carried out—1 refer to tho line which has been constructed from Tallawarrii 1 oint to tho coal 
lands on the other side of tho Ooverument railway. o *
17. Chairman] Do you touch the Government line at all? We are connected wuh tho Government
line close to the Dapto station. m j
18. Mr. Mosrlev.] ’What amount of money has your corporation already spent upon the railway and
other works? I find on reference to tho books of tho corporation that they have expended tho sum ot
£41,013 14s. 3d. on the railways. . • •
19. How do you arrive at that total? The details are Construction, £31,90/ 12h. Cd.engineers
fees. £1.529 14s. 8d.; survey and incidental expenses, £82 I4s. lOtl.; resumptions of land, £ l,< 22 2s. 3d.; 
making a total of £36,010 14s. 3d. for the main line. The branch line cost £5,003; the two items
making up the total of £11,04^1 14s. 3d. - o t.-« *i,
20. How did you arrive at the figures you have given as tho cost of railway construction . From the
engineers’ certificate.^. Mc'^srs. Harper, Harper, and Hondersoii furnished me with their monthly certifi* 
cates showing the amount of work done under tho contract. ,
21. What sums of money have you expended otherwise? We have oxpende<l the suin of £3,503 15s. in 
harbour construction. Cpon absolute construction we have expended £2.085 17s. 3d., and upon surveys-— 
that is. boring right across the lake, plans, and incidental expenses—£1,417 17s. 9d., making a total of 
£3,503 15s. The harbour and the railway together liave cost £41,547 9s. 3d.
22. The railway is still in existence ? It is still in existence.
23. Is it being used ? The branch line and a small part of the main line are being regularly used.
24. W'hat is that portion of the lino being used for ? For shunting purposes, and for the conveyance of
ore, coal, and stores generally to tho Smelting Company's works.
25. The railway is actually in operation? It is in daily operation. ^
26. You spoke of a branch line ;—w.is that branch line part of your original railway proposals? N ;
it was not mentioned in the Schedule of the original Act; but it became necessary, owing to the erection 
of the Smelting Company’s Works, to make the connection with them.
27. W’ill you explain briefiy the position of the company’s works in relation to your railway ? Tlierc is a 
branch line from the railway to the works of 2J miles.
28. W’’hat is the length of tlie whole main lino ? About 5 miles from the coal lands down to Tallawarra
Point. The branch commences at a point a little over a mile from Tallawarra Point.
29. The connection with the Government line enables the rolling stock in use upon tho Government 
railways to run right into the works of the Smelting Company? Yes.
30. There is no need to trans-ship from the trucks in use on the Government line ? Xono whatever.
31. Mr. Trickett.] The branch to which you have referred is the piece of line you desire to legalise by 
clause 1 of the Bill? Yes.
32. Mr. Moieley.] Does the branch lino run entirely over tho land of the corporation? Xo ; it crosses
a parish road called the Kanahooka Road, by an overhead bridge.
33. Have you any authority for the lino crossing that road ? Wo sought tho sanction of tho Borough of 
Central Illawarra, and obtained it on the IGth December, 1895, under the seal of the corporation.
34. Xo other authority from any local body was necessary to empower you to cross that road ? Xot that 
I am aware of.
35. Do you know whether it is likely that any further branch-line will be required? There may be further 
developments in the locality. Wo have a large blue-mctal quarry there to which it might be necessary to 
construct a branch line.
36. Has the quality of that metal been proyed ? Yes.
37. Is there any quantity of it ? Y’es ; it is virtually a mountain—a large hill.
38. Which is ail blue-metal? Yes.
39. Is it the property of the corporation ? Yes.
40. 1b it extremely probable that you will develop that quarry? Yes.
41. In which event it would be necessary to have a line of railway constructed to it ? Yes.
42. Could you connect it with your present lino ? Ye.", easily.
43. You know the lay of the land there, and you are able to say whether it would bo easy to make the 
connection ? Yes ; we could get a fairly easy grade.
44. You could not carry on the blue-inotal trade there without a branch ? No.
45. Is it in contemplation to start any other works in the locality ? Xot to my positive knowletlge.
46. Afr. Jacob.] It is considered advisable that provision should be made for adding further branch lines 
within the limits of the land held by your corporation? Yes ; but I cannot speak of them of my own 
knowledge.
47. A/r. Motelry.] Do you know of any reason why there should be an alteration of the transit charges ? 
The Principal Act dealt only with the coal traffic from the mountain land. Since then tho whole operations 
of the Company have undergone a change.
48. What were the operations of the company originally intended to be ? Simply the carrying of coal 
from the coal lands down to tho harbour.
49. And your scale of transit charges was fixed in view of that traffic? Y’es.

“ 50.
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CO. Then how is it that the r.cocssity for ntiy nlforations has come about ? We are called upon to carry ^ 
small quantities of goods for a shorter diHtan<*o than lliat ineutioiicd in tho Principal Act. ^
Cl. Tho scale of charges mentioned in the Principal Act prescribed a certain sura per ton per mile ? Tes. *’
52. How would that charge operate in the carrying of small parcels a short distance? We might bo
called upon to carry a ton of stuff for I mile for which they might tender us the sum of 3d. e apply 
in our Bill for power to fix a rainimum charge. .
53. Section 32 of the Principal Act is the section dealing with the charges ? Yes. Section 32 provides 
entirely for a coal traffic, not for a general traffic, such aw we are developing at the present time.
54. Your present charge is 3(1. per ton per mile? Yes.
55. That, of course, roierred to heavy loads of goods over a distance ? Yes,
60. You now find your traffic developing in such a way that you can be called upon to carry small 
quantitiew of goods at that rate upon a shorter distance ? Yes.
57. The rate of 3d. per ton would not pay you ? No. ^ .
59. Therefore you want power to fix a different scale of charges ? Wo want power to fix a minimum.
59. So that you may not bo called upon to make use of your rolling stock under a certain sum per ton ?
Quite so. ■ 3 3 e
UO. Can you define a little more clearly what are tho alterations in the traffic? If we carried goo^ for
IJ mile wo should get only 3d. a ton. We want our running charges on tho line to be Od. for 3 miles or
under. . . , ,
61. Mr. DaUon.^ What new development has taken place in the traffic? At the present time it has been
mostly ore and coal for the smelting works.
62. Is there much of it ? There is a traffic of about 7,000 or 8,000 tons a month.
63. For the short distance ? Yes. ..
64. Mr. Moselei/.'] Y’ou think there is a likelihood of your being called upon to <;ar^ smaller quMtities 
than 1 ton? Yes. Under the scheme projected by the company a large township is sure to spring up 
on tho shores of the lake, and tho storekeepers will have their stores sent there. They will require us to 
bring in their goods from Dapto.
05. Of course the public can make you carry their goods? Yes.
60. Chairman.'] What would be the distance from tho Dapto junction to yonr terminus at Tallawarra 
Point? A littlo over 2 miles.
67. Mr. Moseley.] Can you swear to the Committee that tho sum of £10,000 has been paid by your 
corporation into the Treasury ? I was informed so by tho Under Secretary.
65. You have a copy of the receipt ? Yes. i t_ • • i
09. Who paid the amount in ? Mr. Andrews. Tho amount was remitted from London, and the original 
receipt was sent there. The Fnder Secretary for Finance and Trade saw me this morning, and said that, 
if necessary, he would send an officer up from the Treasury to testify to the receipt of the money.
70. Have you endeavoured to elicit from the different societies and bodies in the locality whether there 
is any objection to your Rill ? Yes ; wo forwarded copies of the Bill to the Borough of Central Illawarr.i, 
for instance, and they wrote under date of tho 12th August, under seal, informing us of their approval.
We also received a communication from the Camden Exploration Company (Limited), signifying their 
approval. I may mention that they hold land at Dapto adjacent to our propertv. Then we have also 
heard from two local societies—the Dapto Progress Committee and the Dapto Agricultural and Horticul­
tural Society—to the same effect. o «a- t i
71. JLTr. Trickett.] How long have you held the position of secretary to the corporation. Since July,
1805. . ^
72. Have you a list of the shareholders ? No ; I have not one with mo.
73. How many shares are there in the company? 10,0(X).
74. How many of those are held in the Colony ? Thirty share.s. , ,, , e o
75 Will you give us the names of the shareholders, and the number of shares held by each ot them.
Dr. Storer, 20 ; T. A. de AVolf, 1; A. Armstrong, 1; J. Armstrong, 1: J. H. Armstrong. 1; E. Barton,
1; A.Gr. Friend, 1; H. S. Chipman, 1; J. C. Neild, 1; A. B. Chippendall, 1; E. ^oyes !• The 
rcraaiiuler of the shares are held in London by the Illawarra Harbour and ILaihvay Corporation (Limiteuj
of London.
76. What are the shares? £100. ... , . i j
77. I believe they are taken as paid up to £60 ? According to the.registered contract they are deemed
to be paid up to £50, and there was a £10 call. . , , . . c xt. t
78. So that really only £10 has been paid on them? They took the shares m payment of the property,
so that it is virtually cash.
70. Is the company incorporated in London ? Yes.
80. Who are their representatives in Sydney ? The lllaw-arra Harbour and Land Corporation.
SI. Can you produce the authority? *No. Mr. Andrew Armstrong has their power of attorney.
82. Who can give us particulars as to the company? Either Mr. Armstrong or Mr. de Wolf.
83. AVho are the directors in Sydney of tho local company? Mr. Andrew Armstrong, Lieut-Col. JSeilo,
and Mr. A. B. Chippindall. , . . i i.i.
84. How long have Mr. Chippendall and Mr. Neild been directors ? I think for about twelve months.
85. Was not Mr. Barton a director ? Tes.
86. AVhen did he cease to be a director? I forgot the ilate. i
87 Can you not tell us approximately ; did not Mr. Xeild take his place . Tes ; to the best of my reooL 
lection, he did. If I referred to tho minute-book, 1 could give you the exact date. . ^
88. Mr. Neild and Mr. Chippendall, each having one share, and coming into the corporation twelve months 
ago now form the directorate with Air. Andrew Armstrong ? Yes.
89. ’l suppose you have the transfers of tho shares to these gentlemen m your office? les.
9o! Did they pay for their shares? The matter did not come through my hands at all.
91. Who transferred to them ? AV'ithout reference to my transfer book 1 could not tel
be quite sure. o -r-
92. Do you have regular meetings of directors f les.
93. How often ? About once a month. xv tt ^ nr-
94 Are thev held once a month as a matter of fact ? About once a month. Unfortonately Mr.

’ ^ piy__CuippeQdall

hv k A 4
tell you—I could not
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T.Jkvxi. Chippendall haa been laid up with a broken leg, and Lna not been able to attend for tho last six wooks or
two months.

78opt., X8U8. Before these two now gentlemen were appointed to the Board, had you-rogular meetings? There
were no special dates. When there was business to be transacted the Board was called.
90. Ifow many meetings did Mr. Barton attend ? 1 could not say without reference to the minute-book. 
97. Did ho ever attend any ? Yes ; I have seen him present. _
9'<. Will you supply particulars as to the meetings? Yes; I can supply it from the minute-book.
99. How "long is it since you had a meeting of tho shareholders of this company under the Companies
Act? Twelve months ago; I forgot the exact date—it was either late in Soptemlwr or early in 
October. 1897. ,
100. Had you regular mootings of shareholders before then ? Not from the inception of the corporation.
101. Did not a number of years elapse without any meeting? About two years went by without a
meeting of shareholders. ,
102. How do you account for that ? I cannot say. I myself was not secretary—it was before ray ti^ie.
103. This is the year 1898;—you had a meeting in September of last year ; when was tho last general
meeting of shareholders held before tliat date ? Twelve months before. The meetings have been held 
since I have been secretary to tho company. ,
10*. But before you were secretary no regular meetings of shareholders were held? For some time 
previous to that, I believe they were not.
105. And you will furnish us with particulars of the meetings from your minute-book ? Yes.
106. The company got an extending Act on tho 12th December, 1896. Upon looking at the evidence 
tendered in support of that Act, the chief object apparently to be gained was, I find, the construction of 
the harbour;—will you tell the Committee wdiat has been done since then in connection with tho harbour 
works? We have spent about £800.
107. In what way ? Upon the tie-bank connecting Windang Island with the main land. 
lOS. Who carried out tnat work ? Mr. Robert Amos.
lOJh \\Tiat is the amount that you yourselves said the work would cost when the Principal Act was passed 
in 1890 ? About £200,000.
110. Up to the present time you said that you have spent a little over £3,(XX) ? Yes; I have given the 
figures just now—I think they were £3,500.
111. Where did the £10,000 deposit come from ? It was remitted to us from London.
112. Is it made up by a call from the company? I am not in a position to say—I do not absolutely 
know.
113. You arc secretary of this company which you say have lately liad regular meetings ;—is there nothing 
in your books indicating anything about this £10,000? It came from the Camden Exploration Company, 
and tho Smelting Company of Australia.
114. Is there any resolution upon your books authorising that money to be borrowed or raised from the 
companies you have mentioned, for deposit in tho Treasury ? A resolution was passed empowering Mr. 
do Wolf, under a power of attorney, to make all financial arrangements in London. He was in London 
at the time, and made them.
115. When was that resolution passed ? In 1804.
lie. But that was before you were required to deposit £10,000? Yes. Mr. de Wolf has been in 
London all the time ; he has only just returned.
117. Mr. Moseley.] What was tile occasion of that power being given to Mr. do Wolf? Mr. do Wolf 
was to go home and finance the company,—to obtain tho necessary amount for the construction of the 
harbour and railway by the issue of debentures or otherwise.
118. As a matter of fact, financial matters were transferred from here to London? Yes.
119. Mr. Trickett.] How much money has your company in hand now? Tho balance varies.
120. What is the balance at the present time? Between £100 and £150.
121. Does the railway of which you have spoken go to the harbour at all ? It runs right down to the 
lake.
123. How far would the terminus be from the entrance ? I do not know the exact distance across the
lake, but it is reckoned to be about 2 or 3 miles in a straight line. It is proposed to dredge the channel
right across the lake to the railway.
123. You have referred to two companies—the Camden Exploration Company and tho Smelting Company 
—as having advanced moneys to the local company ? Yes.
124. Are those two companies distinct from the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation? Quite 
distinct.
123. Do you not know, as a matter of fact, that the land upon which these companies carry on their 
operations formed part of the land which originally belonged to tho Illawarra Harbour and Land 
Corporation ? That is correct.
126. Are you also aware that in the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation’s Act of 1890 there is an
express or implied provision against the alienation of any of the land? 1 am not aware of any such 
provision. *
127. Will you look at sections 27 and 29 ? Yes. Section 27 reads :—

resume
It shall Ite lawful for the Governor at any time after the expiration of twenty years from tlie pawing of this Act to 
! all harlx)ur works carried out in pursuance of this Act, including any land reclaimed by such works, except on the

foreshores of the property of which the company now stands possessed, together with the full control of tho said* harlwur, 
wharves, piers, jetties, or other harbour works, subject to all liabilities attaching t Jicreto under the pnivisions of the Lands 
for Public Purposes Aerjuisition Act.”
Section 29 reads:—

It shall not be lawful for the company, at any time before tbeexpiration of seven years from the passing of this Act. 
to assign or sell any of the pmperty, matters, or things mentioned in section twenty-seven hereof, or the licneht of any right 
aoiuired thereby or thereunder, and any such sale, and any agreement or undertaking to soil, made within such period of 
seven years to take effect at or after the expiration thereof, sliall be, and is hereby declared to be, wholly void. i^ovide<l 
that nothing in this section, or otherwise in this Act containeil, shall operate to prevent tho company from raising money 
for the purposes of the said works or other the purposes of the com|»any, by way of security ujion the aforesaid property, 
matters, or things, or other the property of the company, whether such security be given by way of mortgage, debenture! 
or otherwise.

128.
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128. Do you think that the proriao of section 20 does not apply to other properties than those referred
to in seetion 27 ? No. Freehold land is not meant by tho Act; it simply refers to the harbour and mil­
way. The Act pare tho corporation powerto construct a harbour and railway. We couldnot sell either * ®P ’ '
tho harbour or railway to any one for seven Tears, but wo can do what wc like with our own land.
129. I suppose the land sold to tho two companies to which you hare referred resulted in some profit to 
tho Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation ? 1 presumo so’
180. Can you tell us why that money was not cipended in the carrying out of harbour works ? It princi­
pally went to pay off mortgages on the estate.
181. Are you aware of the whole of the dealings with this property up to the present time ? No.
132. Is there any resolution upon the books of tho local company to tho effect that the £H),000 should 
be paid into the Treasury ? Yes.
133. When was it passed f On tho 20th December, 1807.

the eitending Act was passed on the 
you have spent about £800 upon tho 

harbour works ? Tes ; since tho amending Act of 1895 was pass^.
130. You have taken nearly throe years in which to pay in tho £ 10,000 deposit, and since the Act of 1805 
was passed you hare spent about £800 upon tho harbour works ? Yes.
137. And that in face of the evidence given when the Principal Act was obtained that tho harbour works 
would bo tho first works gone on with ? I am not aware that that was so.
138. Mr. Hyam.l What is the proposed capital of the corporation ? Tho nominal capital is £1,000,000.
139. How much of that is subscribed ? £1,000,000. 
l iO. How much is paid ? £000,000.
I tl. Is it actually paid ? It is deemed to be paid. It stands as paid-up capital.
142. How was tho matter financed? The shares wore issued as being deemed to be paid up to £50 a share, 
and there has been a call of £10.
143. That would give you a capital of £100,000 actually paid up ? Tes, as far as I know.
114. Mr. Dalton.l There may have been some defaulters r The book shows no defaulters.
145. Mr. Day."] Kegarding the deposit of £10,000, was there any necessity for the company to pay in 
before they did ? None whatever. •
140. Not until the end of last year ? IVe had to pay it in on or before tho 20th December, 1897, and it 
was paid in before noon on that date.

Thomas Andrew do "Wolf called in, sworn, and examined:— -
147. Mr. Moteley."] "What connection have you with tho Illawarra Harbour ami Land Corporation T. A. de Wolf.
(Idmited) ? I am a very largo shareholder, and I am a director of the Illawarra Harbour and Jiailway ^
Corporation of London, and also a director of tho Smelting Company of Australia. 7 Sept., 1898.
148. Have you been connected with the corporation from its original starting point? Yes.
149. Have you been in London lately in connection with tho business of the corporation ? Yea; for 
nearly the last four years.
150. Do you know anything at all about the establishment of important industries in the locality affected 
by the Principal Act? Yes ; we have started in connection with this company the smelting works, and 
in connection with them we have a very large refining works, and sulphuric acid plant. We have also 
been the means of establishing the coke industry down there. We are using a very largo supply of coke.
151. Have you any idea of wliat tho cost of the Smelting Company’s works has been ? There has been an 
expenditure in an5 about the works of about £220,000.
152. Has that all been in connection with the establishment of tho smelting works ? Yes, and the other 
industries, such as the sulphuric acid industry.
153. At all events, it is all in connection with the Smelting Company's operations ? Yes ; in addition to 
that there is a large working capital.
151-. Are tho Smelting Company’s works directly connected with the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corpo­
ration ? Yes ; they have a considerable interest in tho company now.
155. Has the company any interest in the harbour being made ? That is a very important matter. I am 
sent out hero by the London Board to represent them here, and especially in connection with an endeavour 
to obtain an extension of tho Harbour Act. It is a matter of very great importance ; but I prefer that 
the managing director, who is more in touch with it, should give you full evidence upon the point. 1 refer 
to Mr. Weinberg.
150. Has tho money to which you have referred been spent as a direct consequence of the company’s 
connection with the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation ? Tes.
157. Do you know that a railway has been constructea making a connection between the corporation’s 
line and the smelting works? i’es. In addition to that we have started a number of old sulphide mines, 
out of which we are drawing supplies for the Smelling Company of Australia. For instance, 1 am a 
director of the White Rock Company. We have expended a large amount there—over £50,000. The 
place is in the Now England district, near Drake. The object is to supply the smelling works with a 
certain quantity of ore.
158. Have you also propt)sed to start au industry introducing ores from Broken Hill? I am chairman 
also of tho llroken Hill Junction London Board. AVo are taking the whole of tho output of the mine at 
Illawarra now. Our contract with tlicm this year for tho supply of ore is about £l 70,000. Tho contracts 
1 have made myself with the Western Australian mines amount to £150,000. We have been bringing this 
ore round past the South Australian works to the works at Illawarra. We are shipping now uncler con­
tract with tho Junction Company 300 tons a week of high-grade concentrates. The contract is 15,600 
tons a year.
159. Chairman.'] How do you get that ore to Illawarra ? It is brought at present to Port Pirie, then 
round to vSydney, and from Sydney by rail to the works.
160. You do not make any use of tho AVollongong harbour? No, that is quite useless to us ; it is too 
small, and the ore comes round in largo parcels at a time. It would cost us nearly as much to land it at 
Wollongong as to bring it round through Sydney.

161.
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T. A.de Wolf. IGI. If vou had a harbour at Illavrarra I suppose the ore would be brought there f ^

7 8.pt., 1898. s ^ ^^eVe handicap. In addition to that, we have to ship our lead
be carted when it get* to Sidney. It coats us nearly lOs. a ton to get a load from our works on board a
steamer. That is a heavy handicap on a low article like lead. There is no
1G2. If the charges were lower. 1 suppose you could treat lower-grade ores
occasion for that Wo can get anv quantity of Broken Hill ores it we pav a pr lc for ^uem , bu
Tarto brin.. them t the Itort Pif le works to this Colony for treatment. Ko doubt if wo could get the
ores brought direcllv into the harbour at Lake Illawarra, and also
from that point. New- South Wales would have the command of the
very important matter. We are in negotiations now. and have already shipped certa n
from Sydney to China. The trade there is increasing very much. If the lead l Kioned
here direct, the steamship owners would be willing to send ihcir vesseds down to the “J®
direct to China from the harbour at Illawarra we should also save the lOs. wo now pay m sending the

‘ira. mat i°, ®heS per t„„ o£ getting the area fron, the .hip.’ alinga in Sydney to ynur rrork,.

includiiii? wLftrfaffC cartsfio, ui\d triiinagc ? It would bo A-botit 4s. Ou. per ton. i *u1«1 Zyou ablf\o M Ihe ore righ"t into the trunk.? It i, landed on to tho wharf fir.t, and then

loaded into trucks. o i-
165. You have to pav wharfage rates for the landing ? les. -*
IGG. In addition to'that, there is tho loading into tho trucks, and then trainago into the works at

I(i7.^il/K BnUoN.} The ore is landed at Darling Harbour? Yes ; we pay 9d. a ton wharfage. The ore

is put on to tho wharf. i r ut
168. Mr. Mo$elri/.} As a matter of fact, you may say that your company has boon the means of intro­
ducing this large industry into the Illawarra district ? Certainly. « tt
169. Has your companv brought this large increase of traffic into the Colony ? Yes ; we are getting ores 
from all parts of the Colony. I am told that the rates at the Dapto station have increased from A.OO a
17o! *Can votive the Committee an idea of the tonnage you have actually brought into the district, and 
of the (luantity you are likely to be able to bring in ? I could give you only an approximate idea. I prefer 
that the managing director should giro you that information. Wo are now putting up extra smelters.
The trade is increasing verv rapidly. . „ e
171. Mr. Daj/.'] Do you get anv quantity of ores from the other colonics ? \o»; wc are getting ore from
Queeusland au<l from all over the colonies.

THUaSDAY, 8 SEPTEMBER, 1898.

The Hon. A
Hox. GEORGE DAY, 
Hox. A. H. JACOB. 
Hon. j. AV. TKICKKTT,

ilreeent:—
KETHEL IN THE CH.\IU.

Hon. j. hughes, 
Hon. j. M.ACINTOSII

AV. II. Aloseley, Esquire, appeared on behalf of tho promoters of the Bill.

Hugh McLachlan was called in, swoni, ami examined :—
H. 172. jifr. You are secretary to Railway Commissioners? Yes.

McLachlan. q7;j You are acquainted with the traffic over the railway lines referred to in the Bill ? A ea.
/---- ^ 174. Are you in a position to give the Committee an idea concerning the traffic which ha.** been brought

8 Sept., 1898. jjy reason of tho industries started by the operations of the Illawarra Harbour and Jjand Copora-
tion ? ‘AA^e know from our reports that there has been a large increase of traffic at Dapto, and principally 
through the operations of the Smelting Company. 1 can give the Couiuiittee a few particulars ind^icatiDg 
the growth of traffic. The quantity of minerals other tlian coal coming to tho works there for the year 
ending June, 1897, was 1,730 tons,’and for the year ending June, 1898, 35,000 tons. The traffic in coal 
had also largely increased. A large quantity is taken to the coke works. There w-ns an increase practically 
in one vear from 1,166 tons to 12,019 tons. I think those two sets of figures will give the Committee a 
belter idea of increase than they would derive if I were to go into detail. They will show- the Committee 
the operations of the Company so far ns our business is concerned.
175. The figures you have given do not represent the whole of tho trade into Dapto? I have given you 
the traffic in minerals other than coal, and in coal itself. Naturally with an increased population there
will be more general goods traffic. _
17G. Cha1rman^ Has there been any increase in passenger traffic to and from Dapto ? I think the returns 
if anything would show asmall decrease. That is due to the fact that in previous years wlieu tho company 
were building, there was a number of artisans there. But they were only a floating population. 
However, the fixed population gives a fairly good passenger traffic. It would not be a fair comparison to 
take the passengers for one year as against the passengers in the next year, under the circumBtances to 
which I have referred.
177. Mr. lluqhet.l AVas there any mineral traffic is 1896? There was 3,000 tons each of coal and 
mineral.
178. Chairman.^ Up to that time the traffic from Dapto consisted almost entirely of farming and dairy 
produce? Tes; since the estabiisbment of the- smelting works there has been a big mineral traffic growing 
up. Of course, that means a corresponding imjirovement in other directions—I mean, as far as general 
goods are concerned, owing to the increased settlement.
179. Mr. Moaeley^ What Womes of the goods after they leave the Government line ? They are conveyed 
over tlie company’s line, as a rule, to the smelting works.

180.
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180. Mr. Day."] The goods come not only from the Illawarra line, but from all parts of New South Wales H. 
and from the other colonies;—when T say goods, I mean, of course, ore chiefly ? Tes ; a great deal goes McLschUo. 
through Darling Ilarbour from tho sea-board ; but the company has consignments from a groat number o
of stations. ■' '
181. Chairman.'] Is the gauge of the company's lines the same as is tho gauge of the Government lines ?
Yea. Our trucks and engines run on their lines to the Smelting Company’s Works.
182. You aro satisfied with the condition of the line.s‘r Fairly so. t)f course, we should not run over 
them unless we wore satisfled with them.
183. Chairman^ Were the lines passed by one of your officers ? Yea ; they must be so passcil before we 
could run over them.
184. Mr. Mofteley.] Have you any datayou can lay before the Committee showing the different parts of 
the Colony from which oro has been received at the works to which you refer ? I could give the particulars, 
but it would bo be bearing clown the evidence, I think, unnecessarily.
185. Mr. Hay.] I suppose a large portion of the ore comes from the most distant parts of New South 
Wales? I think that all tho different mining fields acntl larger or smaller consignments. There is also a 
considerable traffic from the trucking of fluxing material. For instance, there is considerable traffic from 
Manilan.
186. Mr. Ilughrs.] A great part of tho traffic comes from the general railway system of the Colony and 
centres at this depcit? Yes.
187. Mr. Moseley.] In section 2 of tho Principal Act tho corporation took power to charge a toll not 
exceeding 3d. per ton per mile in respect of every ton of goods. In that section no power is given to the 
company to charge a minimum rate, so that they might bo obliged to carry good.s for a short distance for 
Id. a ton ;—is that usual? Tho usual thing is to have a minimum charge. If you make your charge 
Id. per ton per mile it might be fair if you were carrying goods a hundred miles ; but wo would not 
undertake to carry at the rate of Id. per ton for 1 mile.
188. Chairman.] Does that apply to tho Newcastle traffic? Yes.
189. What is the rainimum there ? JSixpenco. We regard that almost as a shunting charge. In Newcastle, 
however, the circumstances are slightly different because nearly all the coal is carried in the owners’ trucks.
If the coal is carried in the owners* trucks for a distance not exceeding 1 mile, we charge 6d. a tf>n. It is 
regarded as a shunting charge, and would apply to tho cool from the lletton Colliery and from Bullock 
Island. Tho rate over I mile and not exceeding 4 miles is 9d. a ton. That is our minimum. It is the 
rule upon every railway to make a minimum charge.
190. Mr. Mosdey.] You. as an expert in railway matters, consider it absolutely necessary to have a 
provision in your Act empowering you to charge a minimum ? It depends upon circumstances, but it is 
tho usual thing. We provide for one in tho case of our own railways.
191. What I mean is that it is a proper thing to ask ? Yes; it i.s generally known ns a terminal charge.
192. Mr. Huqhes^ Tho Bill proposes aminimum charge of 6d.;—you think lhatis reasonable? Personally,
I should think 6d. a fair minimum. Comparing it with our charge I should say it was reasonable.
193. Chairman.] What do you charge from the Government railways at Newcastle, if you use Government 
trucks ? One shilling and three pence for 10 miles or under; that is our lowest rate on what you may call 
the stnndand basis of rates.
194. You have a lower rato than Id, for long distance ? It would be all subject to the minimum charge.
We run ore at a id. a ton a mile. But if a man said. “ I wautyou to carry some oro for me for a distance 
of I mile," wo should certainly charge him more than a Ad. a ton.
195. You have no opporlunity of judging whether the traffic is likely to increase in this locality ? That is 
more a mutter for the promoters.
196. Mr. Hughes.] IIow will tho completion of the liarbour affect the railways ? That is a doubtful 
question. The Commissioners raise no objection to the extension of time asked.
397. Do you mean that there will be au increa.se of traffic, as far as the Government lines arc concerned, 
whether the harbour is there or not ? I think so. I think that indirectly we must benefit. The harbour 
would be constructed with the view to bring ore in large quantities from other colonies—such as Western 
Australia or South Australia; and the work of smelting would be increased, necessitating a large population, 
which would give passenger traffic, and the supplies for which would be conveyed largely by rail. The 
Commissioners are not opposed to the harbour.
198. But I suppose the Commissioners would lose a certain amount of traffic if the harbour were 
constructed to permit of ships coming in direct to the works? Ido not think so. There is no traffic .
which we aro getting to-day which we should lose—at all events, not to any considerable extent. At the 
same time we should have the benefit of the increased production of the district, of the increased population,
and so forth. _
190. Mr. Moseley.] Would you not have to convey a largely-increased supply of fuel for smelting 
purposes? 1 «lare say that w'ould be the ease, although 1 see the company propose to use their own coal.
Still there would be the conveying of the fluxing material and the different ores. That would mean a 
certain amount of business to us.
200, Mr. Day.] You think there would bo a certain amount of traffic in limestone and ironstone passing 
over the Government railw’ays to tho works ? Yes.
201. Mr. Jacob.] Have you looked into the amending Hill to ascertain whether, ami to what extent, it 
affects the interests of the Coinmissioners ? The Commissioners have looked through the Bill to see 
whether there w'as anything in it to which they should obiect. and they do not sec anything. There is 
only one point they would like to be made perfectly dear. Clause 2 of the Bills says: “ It shall be lawful 
for tho corporation to construct, maintain, and use any further branch lines upon lands at any time owned 
by the corporation.” Tlio Commissioners would liko to have that made more definite, because they think 
that, as the provision stands, it would practically give the company power at any time to purchase other 
land upon which they might construct a railway running in opposition to our lino. For instance, they 
might construct a line running parallel to our line. The Commissioners suggest a proviso to the clause 
in these terms :—" And provided also that no extension of any branch line, under the powers conferred 
by this section, shall bo proceeded with until after the approval of tho Governor, with the advice of the 
Krccutive Council, shall have been obtained.” As the clause now stands, the company would have power 
to purchase land right up to tho town of Wollongong, and, if tlie local corporation agreed, they would bo 
able to make a branch line to Wollongong. We want to have it made clear that they are to make no 
extensions unless with the approval of the Governor.

~ ' ^ James
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James Robson sworn and examined:—
J. Robaon. 202. C/irt*rma«.] What is your official position? I am officer in tho Revenue Branch of tho Treasury.

N 203. Mr. Mo4eleu.] Can vou state to the Committee anything concerning tho payment mto the Treasury 
8 Sopt.. 1898. jjf ^ deposit by the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation ? Yes ; £10,000was paid into the 1 rcasury

by the illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation on the 20th December, 1H07. It was paid in^as a deposit 
under section 1 of the Illawarra Harbour and T<and Corporation Act Amendment .\ct of 1895.

away

Walter Andrew Harper called in, sworn, and examined:—
W.A.IIarp<T. 204. Afr. You are a civil engineer? Yes. i « i-

205. You are acquainted with tho Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation property at Dapto. i es. 
8Sept., isas. 200. Do you know the position of the railwavs there ? Yes; they were eonstructeil under our supervision.

207. The main line at present goes in what direction ? Tlio main line runs from the company s colliery
somo distance to the south parallel with the main range lor about 2 miles, and it goes from that point to 
Tallawarra Point, the site or tho proposed docks on Lake Illawarra, crossing tho Oovemment lino near 
Dapto. _ _ ^
208. Is the line connected with the Government system of railways by sidings? Yes.
209. Aro (xovemment engines and trucks run over the line? Yes. In addition to the main line there
is a branch line to the Smelting Company's works. ^
210. Are tho company likely to require further linos of railway upon their property P Yes ; I think that 
is certain.
211. For what reason ;—are
in connection with the Illaw, ^
which aro likely to be established there when the harbour is complotci
212. Do you know of any stone on the company’s property? 1 know of the company’s own quarry.
213. Is that upon either of the lines of railway you have mentioned ? Ko; it is about half a mile i 
from tho line.
214. Is there any quantity of stone there? I have not seen the quarry, but 1 believe that there is.
215. You know the situation of it? Yes.
216. Suppose the company had to work the quarry, how would they be able to get the stuff away P By 
carts at present. You can see the (quarry from the railway quite well.
217. Has the stone been tested ? les. It is basalt—very fine stone, I believe.
218. Do you think it would be advisable to construct a railway line to the quarry ? I think it is about tho 
best stone near Sydney, and if it were brought within railway communication 1 think large quantities of 
it would be used.
219. Chairman.'] In what direction is it from tho main line ? If you take a point about halfway bctw'eon 
Dapto and Tallawarra Point it would bo duo south. It is due south from tho 1-mlle peg.
220. Is it country over which a railway could easily bo constructed from tho present line? Yes; there 
would be no trouble about that. It is the company's own land.
221. What 1 mean is that there are no engineering difficulties? No.
222. Mr. Moaele^.] If the quarry were worked would a line of railway be a necessity? Yes; you could 
not work tho traffic without it.
223. Do you know of any other industries likely to spring up in connection with the properly in tho way 
of brickmaking and that sort of thing? Yes; large quantities of bricks will be required for the smelting 
works. There is a deposit of brickclay about a mile to tho south of tho smelting works.
224. That would be available for the making of bricks for building purposes P Yes.
225. railway to connect with the main line be necessary in that case for tho convenience 
of carriage ? Yes ; the only object of the company in having these lines included in the Bill is to provide 
for their working. It would be necessary for them to be brought under the general terms of the company’s

it necessarv that the company should have power to make tho lines under (that Act to enable 
fix dues and to bring them under their general scheme ? Quite so.

227. At present has the company power to make branch lines ? No. There is another industry likely 
to be established in the district at once, and that is a chemical industry.
22S. Is the company at present making large quantities of sulphuric acid? Yesnrt/\ 1TTI.__1____ . * • > • f VI* • • * . « . \ ^ ^ • V . «

do other subsidiary mdustnes spring up?
them about £28,000. Tho locality would

. , , . , , ^^® difficulty of the company has been tho
getting of the necessary kinds of ores.
230. Is sulphuric acid extracted from the ores in the process of refining? Yes. The company treat
scarcely any but sulphide ores. The sulphuric acid is made from the fumes obtained in roasting 
pyntic ores. °
231. Mr. Day.] Who owns the coke works? Tliey aro owned by separate companies.
232. Mr. Trickett.] Where are the works? At‘Unauderra.
233. Afr. Day.] That is not very far from your company’s works ? About 3 miles
234. Do the smelting works get coke from there ? Yes ; it is conveyed along the Government line and 
the companj 8 Ime to the works.
235 Do they have to use large q^uantities of coal there? Yes; they are using a largo quantity of coal
at the company s works, and at the Smelting Company’s also. Tho Smelting Company are not makinc^ 
any coke for themselves at present. o r j o
236. Chairman.] How far does the comp^y’s property extend north from the junction at Dapto parallel

237. Did you survey>ny of that property with a view'to tho conetruction of branch lines ercept in con­
nection with the projected works ? No lines have been laid out.
238. Not to your knowledge ? No.
239. Mr. MoeeJey.] Would you, as engineer of the company, have known of tho fact had it been 
80 r les.
244?. As far as you know at present, there is nothing of the sort contemplated ? No. 241.

Act. 
226. Is 
them to
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wtlka^? '^TeV* out branch linea as required in connection with other W.A.Harper.

242. You know something about the amolting Company’s operations ? Tes.
«iend “them ve“7l-^rgdy‘’’ ‘>-“y I'"”* j“»t decked to

ih^ If tho harbour wore eitomled up to the smelting works, it would be of great benefit to
thorn, and would give them more trade ? Yes. I think tl.e company will not be able to treat certain ores 
at all utiless tho harbour is constructed. They must liavo harbour communication in order to compete.
Vo. intention when tho works were erected was it not to haTc a liarbour in thriake?
wL to bo nZe iZedLtoly'' ‘‘‘■‘‘"'“j' -tdor-tood that the harbour

opposition harbou^r have upon tho Smelting Company's works, and upon tho
T>^ n II»®I>our and Land Corporation—suppose, for instance, a harbour were made at
Port Kemble ? I do not know I do not think it would bo a^ good for the sielting works.
247. It would interfere with tho industries at Dapto? It would hare no effect on them, as far as I 
Ciitl
^ha^t t£,Sd ■ hf with which the Smelting Company deala, it U durable
that there should be as little handling as possible ? Yes ; unless they can ship directly from tho other
colonies to the smelting works they will not be able to take their low-grade ores.^ Forthe acid plant they
are going to firing pyntic ores frorn tho north of Queensland. That has to be landed in Sydney, put in
ru“d i^;d“o“d' dtxrthrwt^hr''"'' ■* ^

fret ™rklV’‘'^““'■“sed direct

250 JtfA Day.] How many men aro there employed upon the works? T cannot say ; I have been acting
for the London Board. I have been there several years, although I was out hero last year for a short time^
I should say there were from 200 to 300 men eruploye.l, but I am only speaking approximately. I have
been acting as consulting engineer for tho company in London, but that was only in relation to^the plant 
they were buying there* ^
2r,l. You know that the comimny have an extension of the works under consideration ? It is nroDosed 
works^lMt ^ started to do so now. They commenced to lay out the additional

252. Chairman.] Have you had anything to do with the projected harbour ? Yes ; my firm here are the 
engineers. It is in the capacity of engineer that I am here now.
ofth^'su^ect^P'^Yes^ acquainted with the borings, and can you give the Committee any information

254. Chairman ] Can you explain the delay which has taken place in commencing the harbour works
According to the evidence when the amending Act was obtained the works were to bo proceeded with
forthwith. L p to the present tune has anything been done towards dredging out tho lake or commencing
the construction of tho rctaimng-walJs ? ^he tie-bank at the entrance is the only work which has been 
done for some time.
255. Mr Moseley.] You arc not in a position to give the reason for the delay ? I know tliclreasons, of 
course; but it is out of my province to deal with this point.

ho the effect upon the works which the corporation have in contemplation 
if this Bill were not passed . I know of one trade which is definitely arranged to bo carried out there 
wluch will not bo carried out at all unless tho harbour be made. I think you will have evidence laid 
before you to bear out that statement. The trade to which I refer will be a very large one 
257. Would the corporation bo very iniuriously affected if Parliament did not give them’tlie extension 
of time asked for m the Bill P Certainly. I think they are only asking for the same thing that every 
colliery has down the coast; only instead of building a railway to a jetty, they are asking for the rieht 
to cut a channel to tho sea, for tlie sending out of their own goods. ®
25R. Chairman.] Have you gone into the question of the time it would take to construct tho harbour and 
to erect the necessary works connected with it ? Yes; there is a contract with Mr. Amos for the com­
pletion of the work within a stated time.
259. Is that contract not cancelled ? It is still in force. The matter is in siaius quo The company 
have to give the contractor notice to start. The contract has been in operation to this extent: That under 
it the railway has been built, and when notice to start tho harbour works is given to him he will have to 
start then. ’
200. Has he to find the plant? Home of it; but tho main plant—a large dredge—tho company have 
secured, almost m the locality. There happens to be one of the largest pumping plants down there and 
the company have it under offer. *
261. Mr. Moseley.] So that you could soon start operations if you could get the Bill passed? Just as
soon as the dredge could be made available. ‘
262. Mr. Day.] Have you any notion of the time which it would take to complete the works from Talla­
warra Point to tho sea ? It depends upon the depth to which tho dredging would be completed The 
channel could bo made in accordance with the Act easily within the two years. But 1 myself think it 
ought to be made to a greater depth. ^
2(53. Chair^nan.] The depth in the Principal Act is set down at 15 feet? Yes. In my opinion there 
should be a depth of 20 or 21 feet. ^ ^
264. Mr. Moseley.] It would be to tho company’s advantage, you think, to deepen the channel ? Yes • if 
It were deepened to 20 or 21 feet I think it would do for the trade. There will be plenty of depth at the
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deepened . . __ ___
entrance, and inside, the water will be dead calm.
265. Do you know the nature of the bottom of the lake ? Yes ; it has been bored by us as engineers
and also by tho contractor. It is a sandy mud. It is all sand-pump worL ^ ’
266. Mr. Macinfosh.] IIow do you propose to dispose of the silt you take out? Tho surplus after
reclamations, will be deposited m tho lake some distance from tho channel. It will be poured into the 
lake and bo left to assume its own position. ^
267. Do you propose to work in from the sea or out from the lake ? We hope to work both ways. There 
will be no difficulty in putting on three dredges if we can get them.

268.
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W.A.Harper. 268. Could you work a saud-pinnp outside with the heave of the sea? Thnt will not be necessary. The
embanlsments will be made and Iho nand-pump will be worked between them m stiJl water. *». *. -i. •

8 Sept.. 1898. 269. Is the stone at Windang Island solid enough for training-wall purposes? I consider that it i
27(X* Jfr la it stone that stands well in the water; it does not melt ? Tes ; the tie-bank which
we have made, and which is not a permanent work, is only made and --cwt. blocks. r.-e .
is not nearly as good as the stone we should use for the moles, which would be large blocks fro
part of the island. Besides that, tho company have an excellent basalt quarry if they require o e
for the facing of the breakwater. * , e p * on
2“1. Is the stone in the quarry columnar basalt ? Yes ; it is in largo columns or trom -0 to ou leet.
272. J/r. Z>ny.l 1 believe tho estimated cost of the .harbour works is about
contract is .€160,000. The total contract was £200,000, but the contractor has dune about £40,000 worth
of railway, leaving about £160.0(X) of works to construct. , « it • ^ • *
273. Chairman.^ Is Mr. Amos still prepared to go on with the liarbour works? Ho is most anxious to
do so.
274. Jfr. Jacob."] If the Bill were not passed would the works have to cease ? Certainly. The company
could not proceed with them without tho Act. _ • i i. ii.
275. It is essential that you should have the Act to enable the corporation to go on with what they con­
template? Tes. . 1 xv to T
276. Mr. Motehy.] Is it your opinion, as a professional man, that the work could be earned twough r 1
do not think there is any doubt whatever about that. Theoretically, it could bo done in half the time. 
The whole dredging for tho complete channel, as provided hy tho Act, can be done in theory with one 
dredge in twelve months ; but then you must double that period, because there aro always accidents and
things of that sort to be provided for. . .
277. Chairman.] The chief point of doubt in connection with the harbour works, I take it, is as to the 
time necessarv to construct the two training-walls at the entrance—that is to say, the breakwaters? The 
whole of the breakwaters at the eiilranco aro to cost only between £50,000 and £60,000. They will start 
both at once from separate quarries.
278. How will you get the stone across from the southern to the northern side ; I suppose you will have 
t-o punt it ? ^^0 ; they have a quarry at the north end, about a mile from the entrance works.
279. I suppose thev will construct a light tramway to send the blocks down ? Yes.
2S0. Mr. Moicley.] "Will they be prepared to go on with both walls simultaneously, without reference to 
the number of men employed ? Yes.
281. Chairman.] U'hat is the depth down to the bedrock upon which the breakwaters are to be con­
structed ? About 26 feet below low water. .
282. It would take some years for tho breakwaters to sink through the supervening sand, I suppose, in 
order to reach that level ? No ; the contractor has to sink them to tho specified level. He has to cut 
away the sand and to make the blocks sink to their proper level. Both sides of the channel must be laid 
with stone to give the low-water depth provided for in the contract.
2S3. Both outside and inside ? As far as they go.
281. Mr. Moteley.] Do you propose to build the wall outside tho breakwater ? It is all rough mole work 
outside and inside. The contractor is responsible for the sides of the channel being lined with stone on a 
definite slope.
283. Will the stone start from the rock? Not necessarily from the rock, but from the bottom of the 
channel,
286. Chairman.] Below the shifting sand ? Yes.
2S7. Mr. Mneintoth.] AVhat was the original depth to which you intended to excavate tho channel ? 
The Act provided for its excavation to 15 feet, but tho contract provided a depth of 23 feet at low water, 
or 25 ft. 6 in. at mean tide.
288. Would you have any objection to that depth being specified in the amending Bill? I should like
you to ask tho company that question. 1 could scarcely answer it myself, but I think they would agree 
with extended time to any reasonable depth. ’
289. In view of the proposal to proceed with the works at Port Kembla, are the company still prepared 
to proceed with their works? It' they get authoritv.
200. No matter whether the Port Kembla Harbour is coustructed or not? I do not see that it will affect 
us at all, and 1 think that that is the proper view of the whole business. The Government has aright to 
make harbours at intervals of 10 miles right down the coast if it likes. This harbour is being built by 
people who have their own trade. The position of matters is entirely ditferent now from what it has 
ever been before. '
291. The surface of the lake at the present time is open to the public for recreation or for fishing ? Tes,
292. What encroachment will your reclamations make upon the surface of the lake so used? Almost 
the only reclamation will be in tho neck at the entrance. It will be necessary there to fill up tho areas 
behind the training-walls in order to confine the channel, but that is not the portion of the lake where 
any fishing is done.
293. Do you not encroach upon any other portion of the lake ? Yes ; from tlie point where it is pro. 
posed to have the docks there will be a training-bank. Fifty acres of mud fiat will be reclaimed there.
294. But is there not a depth there of 10 nr 12 feet of water ? No.
295. You propose to excavate the channel from the Pacific to the wharf ? Tes.
29(5. What is the width of the channel ? 100 feet at the bottom.
297. The depth of water now there is about 10 feet ? Yes.
298. And you intend to go down to at least 20 feet ? Yes.
299. Where do you propose to put the material you excavate? The surplus, after completion of the 
reclamations, will be put into the lake.
.100. Mr. Day.] Will not that have the effect of making a reclamation ? It will not come to tho surface, 
although it may have the effect of making the lake a little shallower in parts. Tho silt will not be thrown 
over within 200 or 300 yards of the channel; otherwise some of it would come back.
301. Mr. Macintoch.] But will not that process have the effect of destroying the lake for fishing pur­
poses? No ; the quantity of material taken from the channel is nothing whatever relatively to the size

of
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of tho loke. Perhaps for 2 miles along its course tho excavation of the channel may have the effect of W.A.H.rper. 
reducing the depth or 4 tcet. The materml will bo spread over 4 miles—2 miles on each side of tho n
channel, and tho lake is G miles long. We are quite willing to agree that we shall not make the main 8 Sept., 1998. 
part of the lake shallowor than 4 or 5 feet at any point.
•302. Then tboro would be nothing, in fact, to prevent your making islands in the lake? "We could not do
that because tho bargo which will lake tho stuff out to deposit haa a draft of 5 or G feet, and you will
see at once that wc cannot make the lake shallower than that. Wo shall probablv use sand-pumns and 
barges. r . r r

Chairman.'^ You do not think, then, tliat the lake will be destroyed as a fishing-gronnd ? ?To • our 
operations will make no <lifferenco whatever to that. *
sot. Mr. Macintoih.] Why arc you using barges instead of pipes to take the sand out of the channel ?
The contractors can use either, but experience has proved, as a matter of fact, that it is cheaper to use
barges than ]iipe« for long leads. I think 1 may safely stale that no part of the main lake will be made 
of a leas depth than 4 feet.
«30.». \ou will not le.’Bon the surface of tho water now available for fishing or recreation purposes? No.
3(M). Mr. TricJcrlt.'] When you were under examination before a .Select Committee on the 30th April"
I8HS. you stated, m n’ply to Mr. Crossinan at Questions 103 and 104, that the mud and silt which it was

of the company ? 
intention, 

the railway was

30S. Now you put the cost down at £200,000 ? Wo let the contract for £-30,000 less than my estimate
because wo found that wo could use sand dredges altogether-we thought that we should have to use 
hoppers in places.
•100. W hat kind of contract in there ; can it be taken up or dropped at any time ;—when was it made ?
I will produce the contract. You will bo able to see what the exact terms are.
310. \ou said just now that you were going to operate within the lake by means of a dredge;—how will
you get the dredge inside ? We shall build it in the lake. The main part of the pumpin-' plant is within 
do miles of the lake now. °
311. Can you give us any explanation of tho cablegram which appeared in the Svdney newspapers at the 
begmniiig of the year, to the effect th-at you were getting dredges built in ‘London to send out to 
Australia ? No ; I saw it, and that is all f can say of it. I think that it is probable that the cablegram 
arose from tho fact that a number of engineers were asked to Olasgow to see a new dredge which had 
been made, and tho people who tendered for the dredge in London thought that the triaf would be so 
satisfactory that they would get the order. This trial hofl nothing to do with the Illawarra Ilarbour and 
Land Corporation.
312. Tiien, if it has been sworn by a witness that the dredges were actually being made in London, and 
thnt a letter had been written out to that effect, it is not true? I cannot sav that. I am afraid you 
are a.sking mo questioua which it is quite outside of my province to answer. I certainly did not tell any 
contractors that wc would accept their contract.
313. Let me refer you to Question 4912 and the following questions, which were put to Mr. Jarvis in the 
course of an inquiry by the Tublic Works Committee into the proposed deep-water harbour at Port 
Kembla I suppose you were in constant communication with Mr. de Wolf, in London, with reference 
to tho affairs of this company? Yes.
3U. I presume that if ho had entered into a contract, in the course of ono of his letters ho would have 
said something to you, seeing that you were the engineer, about the matter? I think that if anything 
of that kind had been done he would have mentioned it. All that I had to do with the calling of tenders 
for dredges in London was the preparation of the specifications. We received a tender for the drwlges 
from a firm there.
315. You have said that the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation had no objection to the Port 
Kembla Harbour scheme ? I do not think there is any objection now. I do not see that tho two things 
clash. If the proposed harbour at Lake Illawarra is made and is a good harbour, I presume the people 
will use it.
31G. You speak of this harbour scheme as being such a very simple matter, as being so easy to be carried 
out; you speak as though there were no difficulties in the way; although a Bill was obtained on the 20th 
December, 1890, for the carrying out of the work, and although Mr. de Wolf, the principal man in the 
whole concern, swore that the harbour works would be the first works undertaken, we are now at the end 
of tlio year 1898 and only a little over £3,000 has been expended upon these works ;—can you explain 
that? That is not so. The railway has been built, and the railway is just as mucli a part of the scheme 
as is tho harbour proposal.
317. T admit that something has been spent upon the railway, but I am speaking of tho harbour works ; 
you have spoken of the harbour works, not of tho railway, as works which could be carried out very 
easily ; that is, without any engineering difficultie.s ; you have said that they could be carried out, at tho 
outside, within two years ;—can you, as engineer of the company, having been in touch with all its opera­
tions, explain why these works, which you estimated to cost a quarter of a million of money in December,
1890, and which you now say can be so easily carried out, have been so long delayed ;—can you explain 
why it is that hardly anything has been done towards the construction of the works up to the present 
time? I certainly could explain it, but I think you will see that, in giving the explanation, I should be 
answeriug a question which I ought not to be asked.
318. You would rather not answer it ? I have not objection whatever to answerit, but I am the engineer 
of tho company, whereas the man who has had charge of tho financial operations will bo before you, and 
will be in a much better position to give you information. 1 think it is out of mv province to answer 
questions of that kind. I may toll you ono thing, which is quite within my knowle’dge, and that is that 
some of the very wealthiest men in England are largely interested in this harbour comixiny, so that tho 
delay cannot have been due to any question of financing. If necessary, I could show the Committee the 
names of the men to whom I refer.
319. Mr. Moteley.'] Were they connected with the project eight years ago ? No ; they have been connected 
with it within the last two years.

0 18—C 320.
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W.A.Harper.320. Jfr Trielett.] IIow does tliat answer of youra nsrcc with the answer fjiven by ^fr. A. Armstrong to 
N Question 37fi2 in tho conrso of the inquiry br tho Public Works Committee into tho proposal to construct 

8 Sept, 1898. a deep-water harbour at Port Kembla;—he was asked, “ I understood you in answer to auctions to state
that the reasons vou applied for your extended Act in December, lH9i3, was because of certain tinancial 
difficulties arising owing to some Melbourne company having failed’';—to that question he answered 

Tos’’? That does not affect the question you now ask me. Tho gentlemen to whom I refer have become 
associated with the project since that date. Perhaps I can make myself a little more '' hat 1
wished to sar was that certain financial people, shareholders of thoIllaB’arra Harbour and Land Corponuion 
in London, if everything had been smooth at this end, would not liave made any difficulty whatever about 
the money. I do not know that there has been any real difficulty except that certain things happened out 
here, which led some of them to think perhaps that they had not proper security. ^
3U1. Arc vou a shareholder in the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation ? No.
322. You are a shareholder in the London Company ? Yes.

TJIUSSDAY, 15 SKPTEMBEB, 1898.
JJrcstnl:—

The Hon, A. KETHEL in the Chair.
Ho5. a. brown.
Hoy. I. HUGHRS,
Ho5. j. macintosh.

Ho5. a. II. JACOB, 
Ho5. G. DAT.
Hoy. S. H. HYAM,

TRICKETT

W. H. Moseley, Esq., solicitor, apjieared on behalf of the promoters of the Bill.

John Higginson called in, sworn, and examined ;—
J. Higginson. 323. Jfr. MofeUy."] I believe you are interested in mining properties in New Caledonia? Very greatly.

Verv few neonlein the world are more interested in them than I am.
15Sept.,lS9S.

proprietor
with four different companies. 
32.5. What companies are they? Tho International Nickel Corporation, the International Copper

Caledonia ? I, at
ippedto Newcastle from -10,000 to 50,000 tons of ore, which would average about 17 per cent.

of copper.
328. Was thnt ore shipped in a crude state ? It was pyrites. I have also shipped to Europe several 
thousand tons of ore. but I could not tell you tho exact quantity.
329. AHiat part of Europe did that ore go to ? I think it went to Swansea. 5fy agents in London are 
Robert Brookes & Co. I know thnt tho copper we smelted in Newcastle went to Riibert Brookes & Co., 
but the ore we sent lo Europe may have been sent through a Sydney firm. Tlie Nickel Company with 
which I am connected has shipped hundreds of thousan«ls of tons of nickel ore to Europe. During the 
last five years we have had vessels going direct to Europe, taking no less than 50,000 or 60,000 tons a year. 
During the last twelvemonths we have shipped a great quantity, and upwards of 100,000 tons of ore will 
have been shipped when tho year is endea. I had 7,000 £20 shares at ono time in the Nickel Company, 
and in the position of managing director I have said that the only way to deal with nickel ore is to 
smelt in Australia and in Now Caledonia.
330. Would you send your ore from Now Caledonia to New South Wales if you could make suitable 
arrangements? Yes, it is absolutely the natural course—in fact there is no other course open to us, 
practically, but to smelt here and in New Caledonia. AVo are never certain of cheap freights to Europe, 
and if we smelted here w'o should have a line of vessels running. At from 4s. to 5s. a ton wo could ship 
whatever ores we had to ship ; and the vessels, instead of bringing back ballast, could bring back coal, whicn 
we could convert into coke or use for smelting purposes.
331. Have you been to Lake Illawarra? Tes.
332. Do you think it could be converted into a harbour to suit your shipping reijuirements? I went 
down there last year chiefly from motives of curiosity, because in 1S91 or 1892 the whole scheme was 
laid before me at Homo. They wanted me to get money in France. They wanted me to get several hundred 
thousand pounds.
333. Do you think from what you saw on tho occasion of your visit to Lake Tllaw.arra that the Lake could 
be converted into a harbour to suit your shipping requirements ? Yes, I do. I may mention that, I had 
all the papers connected with the scheme before me in 1891, and if a gentleman belongingto the company 
had then gone Home, I think that, although I myself at the time was iu want of money, I should have had 
no difficulty in obtaining in France what they required.
334. You Know that tho company’s Bill provides for a channel at Lake Illawarra giving a depth of 15 feet ? 
That. I think, would not be deep enough. 1 think the channel should be at least 20 feet in depth ; that 
would admit vessels of 3,000 or 4,000 tons.
335. What description of ores would you ship to New South Wales from New Caledonia? Different 
kinds. We have copper and silver ores—tho same as that from the Broken Hill mines. We have lodes 
there 20 or 30 feet wide. AVe could ship a great quantity of nickel ore. The island of Now Caledonia is 
one of those places which is really very little known even in France. It is full of minerals.
33G. About how many thousands of tons of ore do you think you would he prepared to ship to this Colony 
every year? The nickel ore is unlimited in quantity. It would be a question or requirements. In Europe 
there is use for about 8,000 tons of metal, and if you reckon the ore at 0 per cent., you will find out what 
quantity of ore would required to be shipped. I think you could safely count upon 100,000 tons of nickel 
ore a year.
337. Von would ship also copper ore ? Any quantity of it. 333,



An unlimited quatititj ? I would not saj unlimited.
month ^ according to the demand ? At tho present time wo could ship G,000 or 7,000 tons of copper a

to this Colony than to send it
811. What difference would it represent to tho company ? When we get ships to t-ome to New Caledonia 
to load IG OP 17 per cent, ore we pay 80s. a ton freight and the vessel comes in ballast, which, of course, 
adds to the charges. If we s upped the oro to this Colony the vessel would come over with coal instead 
Ot ballast, and that would make a great deal of difference.
342. AVhat then do you think would bo tho difference in freight between New Caledonia and tho smelting 
works here and the freight to Europe ? It would average about 2ob. a ton.

What you mean is, that you would save that amount upon the entire coat? Tes.
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344. Mr. Day.’] Can you niiy whether, from your experience, the smelting works hero could treat your ore
it 18 treated in Europe? Yes ; but however fine the smelting works mav be at Lakeas satisfactorily as ___ __ _____ ^

Illawarra, if a port were not made there I would not touch them*!
345. Mr. Moseley.] Apart from lower freight* the coal would be cheaper? Tes : and it is better coke­
making coal.
34G. You require coke for smelting purposes ? Yes; it is a question of economy. We should have to 
determine whether wo would ship coke or coal. "
347. I suppose your mines in Now Caledonia are opened up ? Yes.
348. Hare vou any reason to suppose that the anticipated output would be regularly maintained ? I have
not the slightest doubt about it. ^ a j
349 Have you had any negotiations with the Eoard of the Smelting Company or with the London Board 
of tho Illawarra Harbour and Laud Corporation ? No; but I have met three ur four of the most important 
people connected with the company For instance, I have met Mr. Shaw, of Shaw, SaviU, and Company Mr. 
Keswick of Matheson A Co., and Mr. Flemming, of Robinson, Flemming, & Co. I suggwted that 
Mr. do W olf should be scut out to see what arrangements could be made. I said that I could not promise 
anything, as I should have to consider the matter—that wo should have to wait to see whether a port 
would be made at Lake Illawarra. ^
350. You require a still harbour to uiiehip ? Yes. It is all very well when vou are loading coal* you 
can take it m anywhere. If the weather is bad tho ship can sheer off; but if you'have cargo to discharge and 
cargo to lake in, it is a very different matter.
351. Ho you propose to ship by steamer or by sailing vessel ? It depends upon which we can get cheapest; 
but 1 am luchood to tlunk that we shall have to run a line of our own.
352. Should you want vessels of large capacity ? About 3,000 or 4,000 tons, I think.
353. If you shipped ores inwards, you would expect to obtain from New South Wales outward freight ^ 
Otbenvisc there would be no economy in shipping here. We might just as well ship to Europe.
354. Then outward freights are an important element in your calculations ? Tes.
355. You would have return freights to New Caledonia ? Yes ; coal.
35G. Would it bo a considerable quantity ? Yes; smelting involves the use of a great deal of coke 
and coal.
357. Chairman^ Would you use coke or coal most ? That is a question we would have to consider when 
wo commenced operations. It is a question whether it would pay us better to got the coal and make the 
coke, or to get tho coko direct from a coke company.
358. Mr. Moseley.'] Have you looked at any other place in Australia with the view to the shipment of 
your ores. Yes ; 1 have been to Xowoaetlo. Somo of our ores have been smelted there.
359. I suppose you would prefer Lake Illawarra to any other port you have seen for tho shipment of ores 
for smoltiug purposes ? If it could be made a port, most decidedly. As I have already said, unless it is 
made a port, aud unless our vessels could get in there, wo would not touch the smelting works there.
360. If you could not got tho necessary accommodation there, where would you send to? We would go
to Nowcastlo, so far as Australia is concerned. ®
3G1. But if there were a suitable harbour at Lake Illawarra, you would send your ore there ? Yes.
3G2. Why ? Well, in the first place the |)ort would not bo so encumbered as Newcastle is, and then, for 
our purposes, there would bo greater facilities there than at Newcastle; iu fact, it would become a New 
Caledonian port.
363. You would bo able to ship direct into the smelting works ? Yes.
364. You are satisfied that the coal aud coke are suitable for your purposes ? Yes.
365. Aro the products from vour ores pretty bulky ? Not usually.
366. But they are heavy ? Ves ; tho ore is, as a rule, very heavy.
367. Are you about lo proceed to New Caledonia to make arrangements there for the shipment of your 
ore? Yea ; but our arrangements there cau only follow upon completion of the arrangements here.
368. Aro any directors of the Smelting Company proposing to accompany you? Tea. Mr. de Wolf 
and tho managing director of the works, Mr. Weinberg.
369. Havo you returned recently from Loudon ? I arrived yesterday, coming overland from Adelaide.
370. Have you been engaged iu some pretty large speculations in Loudon ? No ; 1 simply went over to 
meet certain parties to ascertain whether they would fall iu with ray views.
371. You have uncontrolled power in regartl to the arrangements for shipping? Tes; uncontrolled 
power for anything. I would not have accepted the position unless I could do what I liked in such matters.
372. Chairman.] Referring to the existing smelting works at Lake Illawarra, I understood you to say
that you would not have auytliiug to do with them ? Unless a port were made. '
373. You have no intention of reflecting in any way upon the works themselves ? Not tho slightest. I 
have not looked into them. I took the works for granted. If business followed, of course I should go 
down and have a look nt them. In any case we could not seud any or© to the works for smeltin" unless 
tho port were opened.
374. Mr. Moseley.] You refer to the convenience of shipment ? Yes.
375. Is tho southern coal cheaper than tho northern coal ? I do not know what it is at the present time; 
but when I was last here it was cheaper, so I was informed, although I did not buy any.
376. The cheapness of the coal would make a difference to you, I suppose? Most decidedly.

377.
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J. niggin8on.377_ Supposingtho citcimion of time asked forthe construction of tho harhour were granted, do you think
the company would be able to secure the necessary capital? I think so. AVhen I was at Home Jast time, 

15Sept.,1898. j j thought it was a strange thing that they had not got the capital. 1 said to one of the directors
of tho smelting works, “IIow is it that they have not the capital r“ and he said, “ I believe they are thinking 
of having another port there—Port Kembla.” Ho also expressed the opinion that tho proposed depth of 
15 feet in the channel was not sufficient. If the port is made it will be the future port for the shipment of 
ores from Now Caledonia, and that is not a small item, because tho island is full of minerals.
378. Mr. TricX'ett.'] I believe you sahl that if in ISDl or 1892 you had been authorised to get the money 
to carry out this scheme you could have done so? At that time the papers were sent to me and I expressed 
the opinion that if at that time some representative of the company had been sent Home I might have 
piloted the thing through.
379. You think that if you had been authorised at that time to get the necessary money it could have 
been obtained? If any representative of the company had come Home at that time 1 could have introduced 
him. It would have been much better than sending me a parcel of papers to look over.
380. You think, then, tliat the money could havo been raised in tnnse days? Yes, absolutely. If any 
responsible agent had been sent Home—anyone in regard to wliom I could have said, “ You can listen to 
everything he says ”—1 think tho money could havo been obtained.
381. Are there not smelting works at Newcastle at the present time ? Yes.
382. Does New Caledonia send much ore there to be treated ? During the last two years we have been 
doing nothing but opening up. When I was in Europe I would not allow ray directors to sell their ores ; 
I told tliem that if they did so I should break off with them altogether. I said, “ We must have smelting 
works "—we must smelt on both sides.
3S3. Is not Lake Illawnira a hundred miles further from New Caledonia than Newcastle? I do not know 
the exact difference iu the distances.
384. Supposing that Lake Illawarra is over a hundred miles further away from New Caledonia than 
Newcastle, and that Newcastle poRsesses smelting works which are already in full operation, and a harbour 
which can be entered at the present time, do you not think that before ph‘<lging yourselves to Lake 
Illawarra, which is not yet a harbour, you should m.‘ike some inquiries at Newcastle? J have made 
inquiries ; I have papers in my pocket now. You may be sure that I will not do business on the hop ; we 
have committed ourselves to nothing yet. ’
335. If the terms you could get at Newcastle for dealing with your ore were more to tho advantage of 
your company than the terras you could obtain at Lake Illawarra, you would naturally go to Newcastle ? 
Yes. '
380. When were you down at Lake Illawarra? I was down there last November.
387. You did not see any sign of a harbour there then ? No.
388. Did you go to the entrance of the I>ake ? No ; I merely wanted to have a look at the place.
389. Your evidence is this : That if Lake Illawarra is formed into a port, and you see that it is to your 
advantage to send your stuff there to be treated, you will send it ? I am perfectly convinced that 
if Lake Illawarra is made a port, having regard to the local facilities, our ore will go there.
390. You think vou will have better facilities there than at Newcastle, although Newcastle is much nearer 
to New Caledonia ? I fancy so.
391. You are not sure of it? I believe it will be so.
392. Afr. Moseley.'] As a matter of fact, the sea-freight for 100 miles is a mere bagatelle ? Yes. Another 
consideration is, that there is limestone down south, aod that i.s required for smelting purposes.
393. Mr. lluyhes.] 1 understood you to say that there would be a difference of about 25s. a ton in vour
shipment to Lake Illawarra and your shipment to Europe, on the average ? Yes. ’
394. You think you will make the saving by getting the ships which bring your ore to Lake Illawarra to 
bring you back coal? Yes.
395. And I understood you to say that you proposed to use that coal for smeltiug purposes ? Yes.
399. Then you are going to smelt in New Caledonia ? Yes, absolutely.
397. But if you smelt in New Caledonia will you be smelting at this end also ? Yes.
398. AVill not your smelting works at New Caledonia have the effect of reducing the quantity of ore vou
would send to Lake Illawarra? No; because we have enough to keep the two places going. Bv getting 
coal back from this end we should reduce the freight by one-half. "
399. Mr. Ifyam.] Have you any cobalt ore at New Caledonia? Yes.
400. It is very low-grade ore, is it not ? Yes.
401. Mr. Broicn.] What draught would you require at Lake Illawarra? About 20 feet.
402. So that the 15 feet provided for in the BUI would be liardlv sufficient? No.

Ernest Ludwig Adolph Weinberg called in, sworn, and examined :—
E. L. A. 403. AZr. Moseley.] AYliat is your profession ? I am a mining engineer and metallurcist.
Weinberg. 404. You represent the Smelting Company of Australia ? Yes.

405. In what capacity ? As their manager.
iQ8ept., 1893. 406. You aro managing director here? We havo uo managing director here; I am manager of the

company. °
407. General manager ? Yes.
408. Do you hold a power of attoniey from the company ? Yes.
409. You have full power ? Yes.
410. Have you a local Board of directors in Sydney ? Yes.
41L Will you tell the Committee who are the members of the local Board ? Mr. T ¥ Knor nfDn1.7MT-
& Co.; the Hon, Edmund Barton; and Mr. Noakes, of Eowler & Co. • > 8 7
412. Do you appear at this inquiry with the consent of your local Board Yes
413 Do you know whether your local Board had bean requested by the London Board to co-operate with 
theJUawarra Harbour and Land Corporation m furthering the construction of a harbour at Lake Illawarra ?

414. Is it important to the interesU of your company that a harbour should be made there» Yes- I
consider it would be peatly to their interest. meru . xes, x
415. Why ? It would give us cheaper trading facilities.
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Large smelting works cannot bo carried on unless

417‘ yZ W™,' ’'""W facilitate tlw trade in connection nith your work,? That i> my opinion.
4I<. You ^>oul(l be able to losfl direct into the works? Tes. .........
Fifteen fS P^«P«"ed harbour is provided for in tho Act ?

419. Would thnt bo enough for your requirements? Xo.
420. What depth would you require? At least 20 feet
IIV whorse.power of the engines ernploved at your works ? About oOO.
TH.7 r y‘>» employ nt your works ? From 180 to 200 at present.
42.1. U It your intention to extend your works? We are making an extension at the present time.
424. A conHiderable extension ? Acs ; we are building twelve new roasting furnaces.
42o. Do you keep large quantities of ore on tho premises ? Yes 
4‘2«. For what purpose? For smelting purposes.
4‘27. For mixing ? Xo ; in order to have a stock, 
there is a considerable stock.
Ion ? We have about £80,000 worth of ore in hand.
4-.. U hnt ^^ould bo the weight of the oro? It varies. As a rule, we have about 10,OCO tons of ore 
in nana. ’

** chemicals or other works in connection with your sulphuric acid plant?

481. Are you making sulphuric acid at present? We have not yet commenced.
4.12. Hut you have the plant? A'es.

leaking of sulphuric acid will induce other chemical industries round about you? I amstronglv 
of opinion that It will. ^
484. Where do you get your oro from now ? Our principal supply comes from Broken Hill.
4.3.1. Do you get any from Western Australia? Yes. We also draw a certain quantity locally and from
Queensland and Tasmania. •'
43(5. Are you drawing any from Queensland? Tea.
4.37. hat ia the nature of the oro ? Lead ore, copper ore, gold ore, refractory ore *»enerally
4.38. Are you exposed to any competition in the purchase cf these ores ? Yes. “
4539. Where do you get your ores landed now? In Sydney.
440. Will you tell the Committee what ia tho cost per ton of landing the ore in Svdnev, and transporting 
It to your works? Ores landed at Darling Harbour cost ua lid. a ton for wharfage, diacharging, and 
checking, and ds. ijd. for railage into the works from Darling Harbour. Ores landed bv intercolonial 
Btcauier have to bo carted across to Darling Harbour, and on thoHe ores we havo to stand a cartage charge 
of 2a. a ton in addition to tho charges I mentioned just now.
441. Those charges would be aave<l if you had direct shipment ? To a great extent.
442. \\ mild tliat enable you to deal with a poorer class of ores than those with which you are dealing
now? It certainly would. ®

wouhl it put you in a hotter position to compete with other companies in the purchase of Xew 
Caledonia ores? There is no doubt about that. *
•444. Has the estahlisliuient of your smelting works been of any use to the mining industry of the Colony ?
It must havo been. ^
44.'). Do you receive consignments of ores from private parties? Yes.
44G. As well ns from large companies ? Yes; wo receive consignments from large companies and small 
parlies of miners.
447. How do you pay for the ores delivered ? Thev aro sampled and assayed, and we pay on the assay 
value. AV e pay full contents with our smeltiug deduction. *
44S, Do you pay cash ? Yes.
44J). You pay for the mineral contents ? A’es.
450. Do you buy all classes of ores ? Y’es; with the exception of ores which hitherto have not been
treated in Australia—nickel and chrome iron ores. All other ores mined in Australia we buv—copper, 
lead, and gold refractory ores. ' ’
451. Any company of ordinary labouring men can send their ores up to your works and get the full 
value for whatever they contain, whether much or little ? Y'es.
452. Do you know whether tho .Smelting Company of Australia has any interest in tho Illaw^arra Harbour 
and L.anu Corporation ? Tes ; they have.
45:3. Do you think it is to tho interest of your company that a harbour sliould be made ? Certainly I do.
454. At once? Y'es; with as little delay as possible.
455. You are not iu a position to say professionally whether you think the harbour could be made ? As 
an engineer, I have looked into the matter as it concerns us very closely, and from a perusal of the various 
reports I have had before me, I certainly look upon the scheme as a very feasible one from an engineering 
point of view.
45G. Will you tell the Committee the names of the members of your Board in London—I suppose you 
are acquainted with them ? Not personally, but I know them hy name. Mr. Keswick is the chairman.
He is a member of the firm of Mathieson & Co. Then there are Mr. Savill, of Shaw, Savill. & Co.;
Mr. Arthur "Wilson ; Mr. Fowler, of J. Fowler & Co.; Mr. Inglis, Mr. Manby, Mr. T. A. de Wolf, and 
Mr. Flemming.
457. Chairman.'] Have you, as an engineer, seen the sections and plans of tho proposed breakwater? I 
have seen the plans, hut not tho sections.
458. In your opinion, could the work contained in tho breakwater bo done in two years? I think so.
459. Have you taken the trouble to take out the quantities ? No ; I have been verv busy since I took 
charge of the company’s affairs. I have not been able to go into any engineering details in connection 
with these works.
460. Mr. Trickett.] What is the capital of the Smelting Company of Australia ? £500,000.
4G1. How much is paid up ? About £450,(XK).
402. On what area of land are the works erected ? On 303 acres.
4653. From whom did you acquire that land ? I think from the Camden Syndicate. My connection with 
the Smelting Company only dates back for about three months, so that I do not know what the initial 
operations of the company were. I only took charge of the Smelting Companv’s affairs on the 1st June.

' 464.
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B. L. A. 464. Do vou know whnt the Smcllinc Conipanv paid for the 300 acres ? No ; I am not aware^
Waioherg. .jg- ascertain? T think I could. I flunk I can sav for certain that no money has pansed

between tho' Smeltinc Company and the Camden Syndicate. I beliero the payment was made m shares. 
163«pt., 1898. Camden Syndicate tho Board of the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation did they

not buy from the Illawarra Ilarbour and Cnnd Corporation? 1 could not say. I am not sullicicnt y
versed in the affairs of the two concerns. , , c «x-
4()7. But you sav that the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation and the Smelting Company oi
Australia are connected ? Thev arc not connected, but their interests are identical.
4(iS. They do not work together? There is no connection between them. They are perfectly distinct

469. ̂ A\'here does the material which you treat come from? From all over the Australian co^nios, but 
our principal supply ia <lrawn from Broken Hill and from Western Au.stralia ; it isship|>ed from xremantle
and from Port Pirie. . « ni- r *
470. Chairman.'] I think you said just now that you had not treated nickel ore ? \\ e have not.
471. You have treated all other descriptions of ore mined here except nickel ore? Tes.
472. If you were asked to treat a consMerablo quantity of nickel-ore, would your present apparatus and 
appliances be enough for that purpose, or would you have to erect new plant ? We should have to erect
new pl.int for the nickel ore, • t • i i
473. Would that entail a large expenditure? It would depend entirely upon tho quantity of nickel ore
we had to treat. . .
474. Suppose you were asked to treat 100,000 tons per annum ? Then we should require a very extensive
plant indeed. „ - .v-
475. In tho event of harbour works being carried out as proposed, and tho Nickel Company of New 
Caledonia being willing to consign you large quantities of ore, would your company bo prepared to erect 
the necessarv works to treat that ore ? Tes; provided wo could come to terms with the Nickel Company. 
470. Have you any knowledge of the relative values of the Coal Measures adjoining your smelting-works 
and thoBG adjoining the Northern Smelting Works for smelting purposes? Yes. The coal we are using 
now is drawn from tho coal-mines at Mount Kembla and Bulli, and from the Southern Coal Company s 
property. Wc use that coal in mir boilers and our reasting furnaces, and it answers our purposes very 
well. The other fuel wo consume is in tho form of coke, which wo draw from the neighbouriug coke 
companies. Tho coke is an excellent coke, and it answers our smelting requirements well.
477. Mr. Trickeif.] You are not using the coal from tlie Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation's 
Estate? No.
478. There are no mines open on thnt estate ? Not lo my knowledge.
479. Mr. Day.] Arc there not coal-mines beyond J)apto where the corporation's railway runs ? There 
is coal there, but it has not been opened up. jUy own impression is that a little to the north of Dapto 
there has been a disturbance which has interfered with tho seam, but I havo no doubt that coal might be 
found to the south of that point. We have basaltic rock on our estate, and no doubt that rock has had 
some action upon the coal-seam.
4S0. Have not the corporation constrncted a railway from the harbour to a coal-mine ? Quite so.
481. Did they not ascertain before they made the railway that coal was there ? I cannot say; it was 
before my time.
452. But do you not know that, as a matter of fact, there is coal at tho terminus of the railway which runs 
past vour works ? I know that there is a scam which was worked about two years ago, and which gave 
indifferent results.
483. Tho coal was not as good as the Bulli coal ? No} hut as I havo already said, my impression is that 
a certain disturbance set in there which disturbed the seam. I have no doubt, in my own mind, that coal 
will be found to the south of the point to which you refer, if you go far enough away from it.
484. You mean towards Shoalhaven ? Yes.
453. 3Ir.THe.heif.] You know that Professor David reported against tho coal found there? Tes; but 
when he was there the mine was in such a condition that it was impossible for anyone to go in and make 
an examination.
4SG. But, as a matter of fact, he did report against the coal? T think he must have come to the same 
conclusion that I did—that a certain disturbance had set in there, which has made the mine less valuable. 
487. \ ou are not using that coal for smelting purposes ? No; the seam has not been sulBciontly 
opened up.
4SS. Mr. Day.] But you think there is abundance of coal further to the south? I could not say 
definitely, but T am under the impression that coal would bo found as soon as you got away from tho 
basaltic country. I know that there is a movement on foot to induce tho Government to put a bore 
down further south to prove the seam there. A littlo further to tho south a man is working on a seam 
now, and is producing excellent coal, which is u.sed for blacksmithing aud household purposes. Ho is a 
farmer, and does not know very much about mining. I am under tho impression that good coal exists 
beyond tho disturbance to which 1 have referred.
489. 3[r. Myam.] Which scam were they working ;—tho Bulli seam ? Yes.
490. Have they not a deeper seam there? No ; the work carried on there has been a mere scratching.
491. I thought it had already been proved that there was a seam under the Bulli seam ? I am not 
aware of it.
492. Tho Bulli seam is worked from tho side of the hill ? Tes; I believe there is a tunnel. I have never 
been to the colliery.
493. It is the same seam that is being worked by tho Metropolitan Coal Company ? Y’es.
494. 3£r. Macinfoth.} \ ou chose tho site of your smelting works in the expectation that the Lake would
be ojicned up ? Yes.
495. Have you received any benefit from any works which have been constructed in connection with the 
Lake ? Not yet.
49(>. What sired vessels generally carry ynur ore ? VcBsels of from 2,000 to 3,000 tons.
407. Suppose there were a channel of ’l5 feet in the Dako, would it bo of any beue.fit to you? No • I
have already stated that it would not be. ’
49S. Then if tlio Lake were opened up as provided for in the Bill, it would not be of any use to vour 
company ? No. We should prefer a greater depth—a depth of at least 20 feet. 499.
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499. Would the vcBBelB which uBuaUy carry your ore be able to get up to your works with a channel K T- A.
having a depth of only 15 feet. No; but I understand the corporation ore willinj; to dredge the 
channel deeper. ® ® ^
600. No sailing vesaelB would come under any eircumstances ? They would havo to be towed up.
501. Steamers would be generally used ? Yes. ^
502. The bo^m of the Lake is soft? Yes ; hut it ie good standing ground after dredging. As far aa I
know, there ib do silting agent in the Lake. There are no riverfi or streams running into the Lake which
would Blit it up The only creek is Sfullct Crotsk, which is an insignificant stream of water. The
silting action would be therefore almost nil. Onco tho channel was dredged there would be no difficulty 
in keeping it open.
603. There is no sand coming down from tho bills? No.

Thomas Andrew de Wolf recalled and further examined:—
604. Mr. Motley J] Has your company had any negotiations with Mr. Higginson as regards the shipment T.AdeWolf. 
of ores from New Caledonia to the Smelting Company’s works? We had some negotiations in London ^
nrevious to my departure. In fact, T have como out here in order to go to New Caledonia with Mr. 16 8«pt., 1898. 
Higginson to inspect the properties and to arrange terms.
606. Have you full power to make arrangements with him? On behalf of the Smelting Company, 
preliminary arrangements only. The matter would have to bo submitted to the various Boards in London 
before any important negotiations were concluded.
50G. You represent the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation ? Yes.
507. A question was asked of two witnesses as to the depth of water in the proposed channel? They 
were asked if they thought 15 feet of water would be sufficient, and they replied that at least 20 feet 
would bo required.
508. AVould tho Illowarra Harbour and Land Corporation be willing to dredge the channel to that 
depth if called upon ? Yos ; but they could not complete it to that depth in the two years’ extension now 
asked for. It would not be safe for us to undertake to do it iu that time. We might do it; but we 
should want more time to make tho matter absolutely safe.
509. You would dredge the channel to a greater depth in order to attract trade? We always had the
intention of deepening tho harbour afterwards. It would bo necessary, in order to get a large trade to 
have a deeper harbour than was originally proposed. ”
510. Chairman.'] Who was tho civil engineer who designed the harbour works? The plans were first 
drawn by Messrs. Harper. Harper, and Henderson, but they were altered by Mr. Barley.
511. Is Mr. Henderson still your consulting engineer? Tes.
612. Mr. Jacob.] If the company found it necessary to their interests to deepen the harbour beyond 15 
feet they would naturally do so ? Certainly.
513. Without being compelled to do so by Act of Parliament ? Of course. It is the intention of the 
company to make the harbour of a greater depth than we are at present required to do.
614. Mr. Hyam.] It would be absolutely to the interest of the company to do so? Tes; our contract 
provides for a greater depth than 15 feet. A much larger trade has grown up than was thought of when 
the harbour was first contemplated.
615. I suppose that when you provided for 15 feet you thought that a smaller type of vessels would 
answer all purposes? Tes. We thought the harbour would be used principally by small coasters.
510. Mr. Trickett.] On the 20th December, 1890, you obtained your original Act to carry out the 
Illawarra Harbour project, and ou tho 12th December, 1895, you obtained an extension of that Act?
Tes.
517. I want you to tell this Committee bow it is that now in September, 1898, according to your own 
secretary’s evdence, you havo only spent something over £3,(H)0 in respect of the proposed harbour 
works ? It is quite useless to expend any large amount of money on harbour works, unless thev are to 
be carried ouit completely. If we could not carry them out completely it was of no use to start too much 
work there.
518. But w'hy could you not carry them out completely; you obtained your original Act in December,
1890, and the extension of that Act in December, 1895, and I want to know bow it is that in December,
1898, you have expended only something over £3,000 upon your harbour works? We had not arranged 
our finance to make the harbour.
519. You have not been able to arrange them ? We have not done so.
520. Why not ? Do you mean from the commencement of the Act passed in 1890 ?
521. I want to know the reason of tho delay—how it is that in eight years you have spent only £3,000 ?
Sliortly after we obtained our original Act there were few financial institutions in this country which 
were not compelled to suspend payment. It was not a favourable time to raise a large sum of money, or 
to go into any great enterprise. There was no money then available for works in Australia. At that 
time people would not look at anything in connection with Australia. They could not even get their 
own money out.
522. The reason of the delay, you say, is that you have not been able to get the money ? Yp to the time 
of the extension of the Act we had not been able to get the whole of the money to carry out the whole 
of the works.
523. At the time, then, of the extension of tho Act in 1805 you were able to get the money ? I have a 
copy of the report which was issued by the London company, and if you like I could read it. Tbit would 
explain the delay.
524. What I want to know is whether you were able to get the money in December, 1895 ;—had you 
then or were you able to get the money to carry out these works ? We had not made any arrangements— 
there was nothing definite. We were negotiating with people.
525. Then what did you mean when you said that up to December, 1895, you were not able to carry out 
the works ? I say that we were not able to arrange our finances, and I gave the reason why. For some 
time, after we obtained tho Bill it was impossible to raise any money for such a large enterprise as ours.
520 You say you have tho money now with which to carry out the works ? No.
527. Not at the present time ? No.

528.
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T. A. tl* Wolf. 528. Then if this Bill is granted vou bare not now tho money with which to carry the works out ? e
have not got the money in hand, certainly.

io3cpt.,ld98. 529. Mr. Ilyam."] Do you expect to get it ? Certainly ; otherwise wo should not haTo paid tho £10,000
deposit. • • 1 A r\ u
530. Let me direct your attention to the evidence you gave when applying for your original Act. On tho
0th Mav, 1880, you were asked by the Chairman of the Committee whi’fher, if the Bill were passed hy 
Parliament, you would be in a position to commence operations immediately, and you aaid in reply, “ We 
could commence operations immediately.” Then, further on, when giving your evidence on tho same 
date, vou were asked tins question, “The money would go, first of ail, towards making a useful harbour, 
and providing labour for a large number of men,” and you answered, “ \es ; it must provide employment 
for a large number of men for a considerable time”;—was not that your evidence ? Vcs.
531. I want vou to reconcile that evidence with your present position, eight years afterwards ? I have 
endeavoured to explain it by saying that owing to tho bad state of financial business in Australia it was 
impossible to get tW money at that time. We had some very large shareholders in the company who had 
practically arranged to find the money. One of the largest shareholders having a great interest in this 
company was tho Mercantile Finance Company of Melbourne.
532. Mr. Day.1 They went insolvent? Very badly insolvent, but at the time the Bill was passed they 
were considered to be a very wealthy corporation.
533. Mr. TrickeH.I I understand then that this harbour busiuess is such a speculative matter that for 
eight years it has dangle<l along, and you bavo not been able to do anything material with it ? I do not 
admit that it is a s^ieculative matter at all.
534. But you have not been able to carry out your undertaking? We have not done so.
535. According to the evidence given by your secretary thirty shares in the Illaw.arra Harbour and Land 
Corporation are held in New South Wales, and 9,070 are held in I/ondon by another company called the 
Illawarra Harbour and Railway Company ? Yes.
536. What is the capital of that company ? £600,000.
537. Have you a copy of the share register ? No, I have not.
538. Are you on the directorate ? Yes.
539. Could you supply us at our next meeting with a copy of the share register of that company—a list 
of the shareholders r No; I could not give you a copy of tho share register, but I could give you the 
names of a number of the shareholders. I have them in a memorandutn.
540. Will you give us the names of the shareholders and tho number of the sliarcs held by each ? I could 
only give you a few of the names. 1 have a memorandum of them.
541. Mr. Armstrong, for instance, has one share in the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation ;—how 
many shares has he in the London company ? I think ho has 10,000.
642. Another Sydney director, Mr. Chipendall, has one share in the Sydney company;—how many shares 
has he in the London company ? Some nominal amount.
543. Could you tell us whether it is one or two ? It may bo five or twenty. It is something small.
544. Lieutenant-Colonel Neild, another local director, has one share in the Sydney company ;—how many 
has he in the London company ? I could not say, but 1 think I can get you tho number.
545. Surely, as a director, you would know ? I think I can get the number for you, but I cannot 
remember it. I should like to bo permitted to explain, with regard to tho Loudon company, that it is 
legistered there in order to give it a local habitation. The English people will not lend money on deben­
tures to a company entirely controlled in Sydney, and shareholders that were in the original company 
hero hold their shares in the London company, it is simply a transfer. Instead of being held here they 
are held in London. The companies are identical.
546. Mr. JIyam!\ Although tho company here has a different name, it is virtually tho same company ? 
Yes. The London company will find the money for the local company. In addition to that, they have 
issued some £40,000 of preference shares. These have been taken up by people iu London.
547. Mr. Trickett.'] Then I understand that the two companies are also identical? Yes,
548. Then in the company in Sydney you must have a copy of the shareholders of the London company ?
I inquired of the secretary yesterday whether he had a copy, and I understood him to say that ho had not, 
but if he has one I will have it sent to you. '
549. Do you mean to convey to tho Committee that this Sydney company, conducted in Svdnev, is 
identical with the London company, and that, being the same as the Ivondou company, it does not know 
how many shares the individual members in Sydney hold in London? I am not certain whether they 
do. I do not think it is material to this company to know. All they know is that the London company 
hold their shares. It is not the business of tho London company to furnish them with a list of tho 
sharcholdors.
550. Although the two companies are identical ? Of course, if they asked for it, they could have it.
551. In giving your evidence on the Otb May, 1889, in reference to the original inception of tho company, 
you were asked, at Question 849: “ Is there provision made for the giving of any paid-up shares in the 
commny to anybody—to the vendors, or any people of that sort; are there any paid-up shares provided 
for bv the prospetus of the company” ; to that question you answered, “ No ”I want to know now if 
any shares of the company, at any time, have been given away or allotted to any persons other than those 
who absolutely paid cash for their shares iu this Illawarra Company ? Do you mean by tho company 5' 
652. I do not care who it is by ? I do not know what others do with their shares. Of course there are 
transfers. Some persons may have given shares away, and some persons may have sold them. I do not 
think any have been sold,
553. Have you yourself been a party to the giving away of any shares do you know of any having been 
given away ^ Yes; I have given away a good many. When I say that I have given them away I mean 
that I have given them to relatives and friends. 1 have also given shares for services rendered
554. Mr. Day.'] I suppose that nearly all the shareholders reside in England ? No; they nearly all
reside in Australia, with the exception of tho preference shareholders. There are some shareholdere on 
the London register. All the preference shareholders reside in London. Tho original shareholders 
reside for the most part m Australia. They simply hold their shares in the London company instead of 
m the Sydney company. ^
555. Jfr. Trickett] Then the list of shareholders your secretary gave us does not convoy tons in any wav 
what the real holding of the shares in the company is, because they were all set down with tho exception
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of l)r. Storor as liolding one shore-,—you yourself aro put down in Sydney as holding one share;—how T. A.deWolf. 
many Hlmrcs do you hohl in London ? I have one share in Sydney, but I hare a very large number on tho ^
London register. 15Sept.,W98.
5.'5(5. IIow many do you hold in London? I can find out and let you know.
557. You do not know how many ? 1 am a large shareholder, and I hold a great many »haros. I have 
done so since the comnioncemoni of tlie company. J could ascertain tho o.vacl number and let you know.
558. When you obtained thoso jxjwora in you then possessed, accordingio your solicitor’scvi<lenrc,
2,1)20 acres of laud does the eoinpany liold that area at tho present time ? No; it is lc.*s by 5UOacres.
551). What have you done with the 5i-U acres? It has been sold.
G(U>. What was tho purchaso money ? i>2n,000.
5(>1. Where did that money go to ? It went to tho company's account.
502. But seeing tliat you had an Aet to deal with 2,020 acres of land, how is it tint you havo now only 
2,120 acres? Wo have no Act to deal with any land at all. Wo havo an Act empowering us to make a 
harbour.
5t>3. A memorandum attached to Mr. Crossman’s evidence, which, I presume, is accurate, states that you 
arc purchasing 2,920 acres ? That we had purchased them.
5GI. Was not that land absolutely conveyed to two trustees for the benefit of tho Illawarra Harbour and 
Land Corporation ? No; for a syudicate, prior to the formation of tho company. The Osbornes owned 
the land previously.
505. Uid you not convey away the whole of this land, and did it not subsccjucntly become rercsted in the 
Osbornes? No.
500. Mr. Jacob.] Is there anything in the Act to prevent you selling your land ? No. Tho only reason 
we had for making the harbour is that wo had this land. Wo hail held on to it for a number of years, 
and our original idea in buying the land, for which wo paid £90,000 (a very considerable sum of money), 
was that we might make it valuable by making a harbour. If the Government or anyone else will make 
tho harbour, the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation will drop out of it at once. We do not want 
to make the harbour. We shall be quite content if it can he made by the (Tovernment. If tho Govern­
ment will say that they will make the harbour, we shall be quite content to drop it, and to go no further
with it. .
5G7. Mr. Mogeletf.] But you do not say you have no intention of making a harbour? Not at all. But 
tho Government have always said that they would not make it; and we have had the idea of constructing 
it in order to make our land valuable. We havo also been instrumental in putting up smelting works at 
a great cost to give ourselves trade. We are now independent of the coal trade, or any other trade. Wo 
havo establishcu a trade for ourselves.
5U8. Mr. Day.] The works you have constructed ore likely to lead to tho formation of a large township ?
Yes. Our trade is increasing all tho time, and will raise tho value of our estate out of which wo intend 
to make our profit.
501). Mr. Jacob.] You think that if you get two additional years you will be able to do all you undertook 
to do by your Act ? It will give us time to make the 15 feet, but wo shall go on with tho work to a much
greater depth. ^ .
570. Mr. JIya?n.] In connection with the deposit of silt, is there any danger, do you think, of your being 
interfered with by the Harbour and Bikers Department? 1 think not. 1 think we are bound under 
the original Act not to interfere witli tho navigation of the Lake by tho deposition of silt.
571. You do not think you are likely to come into collision with tho Harbours ami Kivers Department, 
or that they are likely to turn round and say, “ Y’ou must stop these works ” ? I do not think there is any 
danger of that.
572. Mr. 'I'ricked.] Did you ever order any dredges to bo constructed in England for the purpose of 
dredging this harbour? No; they were not absolutely ordered. Wo had specifications prepay by 
Gwynn & Co. We were arranging at that time for au amount of money on account. I believe it was 
£50,000 with which wo intended to make a start. But we did not get any further. Wo got our plans 
and specifications, but our arrangements fell through.
57d. Chairman.] Is it your duty, or the duty of the contractor, to provide a dredge? It is the duty of 
tho contractor.
571. Mr. Trickclt.] The reason I auk the question is this—-about two years ago a cablegram appeared in 
the Sydney newspapers to the effect that Mr. do W'olf had ordered dredges in Loudon to carry out the 
liarbour works ;—is that true or not ? No order was given.
575. Then, if such a cablegram apneared iu the Sydney newspapers, it was a mistake ? It must have been 
a mistake. Mr. Amos has to find his own plant. •

TUUUSDAY, 22 SEPTEMBER, 1898.
^present:—

The IION. A. KETIIEL in tue Chair.
Hi>jt.
Hon.

A. ir. JACOB,
W^ J. TBICKKTT.

Hon. S. H. IIYAM, 
Hon. G. day.

Yes.

W. H. Moseley, Esq., appeared on behalf of the promoters of the Bill.

Robert Amos called in, sworn, and examined :—
570. Mr. Moseley!] What is your occupation ? I am a public works contractor.
577. Have you at present a contract with the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation ?
578. Are you still prepared to carry out that contract ? Yes ; on conditions. . - /vi t
579. Chairman.] You have already dime a lot of work for the company ? To the extent oE £35,000. I 
have advanced them £5.500 to pav off all liabilities. The lino connecting with the Smelting Company’s 
works costs about £5.000. That monoy was paid hy tho SmeUiug Company, but tho lino is part aud 
narccl of the system of the Illawarra Company.
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R. Am». CSO. What is the nature of the Trorks ? There is a railway connecting the
^-----> Tallawora Point line, on the shores of Lake, md then tthero is the company s bop-bno couutctmg t

22S<pl., 1898. tiio Government line at Danto station, and the line branch to the smelting worKs.
581. Have you completed tWt portion of the contract? les.
TiR*’ ^^r IToacZcvT Who paid you? The Illawarra Harbour and I>aml Corporation.583' Mr livam 1 You referred just now to your being willing to complete the contract on conditions ; 
toIvhHt conS-,1, do“ ou I referred to tho company being in a .ufliciently good financal pomhon

to make the necessary payments to me. a i.o vr
,584 iifr. i/oM/cy.l Do vou consider that you can carry out tho contract? ics.
585. OAfi/rmfln.] 1 unde’rsland that you offered to do the dredging for a lump sum.and tho training-walls

6S6 Mr. Jacob.] Does your contract limit you to any time for tho completion of the contract? 1 will 
produce a copy of the contract presently. It expires in December of this year.
5S7. But you cannot complete by then ? No ; I shall not be able to begin by then.
5SS. Chairman.] Have you ever checked tho <iuantities and material eontamed m tho breakwaters and
tr.iinhig-wall P Most decidedly. . , * i *i +1,,,5S9. Are vou aware that Mr. Darley, in giving his evidence before a former Committee, statcHl that the
quantitics'had been very much under-estimatwl. and that it w'ould require a larger quantity of >»*«"ial
to construct the works than had been calculated by the engineer of tho company ? I heard Mr. Parley

Sw.^liave you compared the quantities of Mr. Henderson with those of Mr. Darley ? 1 hayo seen tho
quantities made out by Mr. Henderson, and 1 heard Mr. Darley give his evidence. I have checked tho

59l" In?hSing the quantities, did you reckon by the cubic yard ? I calculated a ton and a half to tho

592. Mr. Jacoh^ I presume you are acquainted with the Bill wdth which the Committee is dealing just 
now ? I have seen it.
593. What is its main object ? An extension of time—I believe for two years.
594 Do you thiuk you could complete your contract within tho time asked for m the Bill. It (leponiis 
upon what contract'you refer to. There is a contract between the corporation and the Govcimment, 1 
understand, for the dredging of the channel to a depth of 15 fect-that is to say, the channel must be 
Able to acoormnodatc vcbrcIb of 15 feet draught. That can easily be enrried out withm two years.
595. But hare you not contracted to make the channel deeper than that ? Yes. ^
596 That additional work cannot be carried out within tho two years ? It could be carried out in llio 
two years if the corporation had money sufficient to institute an electric instalment, so that tho work
might be carried out night and day. . . -o t i n
597. You arc satisfied that as long as the money is forthcoming tho contract can be earned out ? 1 shall
be perfectly willing to carry out the contract within tho two j'cars.
598. What is the contract'of the corporation with the Government to which you have referred ? Tho
dredging of tho channel to a depth of 15 feet. •
599. You are referring to the depth specified in the Act? Y'es; my contract with the corporation is
for a depth of 25|^ feet at mean tide. ■ , o
600. Then if you arc prepared to carry that out tho contract with the Government must be carneil out?
Of course, the greater contains the less.
601. Chairman:] Supiiose this Bill is passed have you any assurance from the company as to when they 
will give you notice to proceed with the work ? 1 am assured that their linaiicial arrangements arc so far 
advanced that there is very little doubt of failure. They think that at the end of tho year, or in the 
early part of next year, c'ertainly not later llinn February, tbey will be able to give mu instructions to 
proceed with the contract.
602. With what portion would you proceed first ? I should carry out tho whole simultaneously.
603. Have you secured your dredging plant? I had all the necessary arrangements made three years 
ago to get the whole of tho dredging plant from San Francisco, but since then an alteration has been 
made in the original contract. The original contract dates five years back, but the other one would ilato 
about a year and a half bock. Under the new contract tho corporation undertakes to supply me with a 
dredge.
604. Your time, theu, would not commence until the cor|»oration had supplied you with that plant ? I 
might explain to you that they have obtained from Dr. Hay a large aand-pump with 2 feet diameter 
discharge pipe. It is the largest of the kind in the Colonies.
605. Where is that plant ? It is lying at Coolangatta.
606. Would you be able to get that plant transported by sea into Lake Illawarra? No; I should not 
attempt to transport it by sea. If I undertook the erection of the plant, I should have it brought down 
to the Lake by railway.
G07. With regard to the training-walls,—where would you get your stone ? I have calculated for stone at 
Windang Island, and in my calculations I hare allowed for tho reserve which tho Government have made 
for military purposes. I think there would be still stone enough.
608. Would you get the stone for both breakwaters from the Island? Providing the stone turns out 
satisfactorily.
609. Would you not have some difficulty in getting it over to tho northern breakwater across the channel? 
No ; I should put a bridge across with an opening in it to admit of cutters or small craft getting through.
610. Y’ou are quite clear upon this point: That if the extension which is asked for, namely, two years, is 
granted, you would bo able to proceed with tho works, and finish them within tho specified time ? They 
w’ill be finished to comply with the terms of tho Act—tliat is to say, there will be a channel of 15 feet.
611. But as to the deepening of the channel beyond that? Though cousiderablo progress might havo 
been made, that work would not bo completed in tho two years.
612. Mr. Trickett.] When was your first contract entered into ? The first negotiations were entered 
into in June, 1893. The contract was entered into in 1895.
(513. Is that contract still in force ? No : it has Ix'cn over-ridden by a new one.
014. What is the date of tho new one? April, 1897, I think.

015.
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G15. Did you do any work under the 1805 contract ? I carried out tke railway work. B. Amo*.
01(5. Did you carry out any karbour works ? Only £850 worth. f>«>ar!!r"iaoa
017. "W'^hat was that? Tuo tio-bank to WindatiR Island. Messrs. Brand & Co. ha<l done work to the* 
value of sotno £1,200 or £1,000, and at tlie request of tho company I did work to tho value of some £850.
G18. What is the object of tho tie-bank? It in a protection to tho training-wall, ami it will also act as a 
tramwav communicating between tho quarry and tho training-wall.
()10. M'^hy did you discontinuo your work? No money was forthcoming. T got £0(X), which the company 
had agreed to ])ay. No further monoy being available when tho work amounted in value to £850, I 
suspended operations, but tho balance of £350 was subsequently added to tho other work 1 had done, and 
1 obtained security over the whole property, represented by a mortgage of £34;,000.
620. What was tho amount of your contract for tho railway originally ? I think the railway came out at 
about £28,5(X) at schedule rates. I advanced tho corooration £5,500 to clear off all other liabilities—for 
payment of the land resumed, and other existing liabilities—in order to get a clear mortgage.
021. For all the work you have done for tliis company, then, you have received only £5C0 ? Tes; and I 
have a mortgage for £34,000.
(521!. Mr. Jli/am.'] You hold that mortgage over the property ? Yes. The whole of the land and the 
railway belongs to me with the exception of tho section going to the Smelting Company’s works, which 
tho company paid for, and took a mortgage over.
023. Although you obtained money from the Illawarra Land anil Harbour Corporation for that branch 
lino, it was the work of tho Smelting Company ? I know that the Smelting Company advanced the money.
624. Mr. Moseley."} How do you know that? Both the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation and 
the Smelting Company told me so. Tho Smelting Company required the line, therefore they advanced 
the money to pay for it.
625. Are you a shareholder in tho Illawarra Harbour and Ijand Corporation ? I am not.
626. Are you a shareholder in the London company ? lam not a shareholder in either of them, nor in 
the Smelting Company. I api simply a contractor and mortgagee.
627. Supposing the channel were carried out to a depth of 23 feet, with the necessary increased width to 
give it a proper batter, how long would it take you to carry out the work ? We should require at least 
a year more j but I would suggest that the company ask for an additional two years, I do not think they 
would require the four years to do the whole of the work, but if they are going to get an amending Act 
they might just as well make the period for the completed work four years.
628. Mr. Jacob.} You are assuming that it is requisite to go to the additional depth ? Yes.
629. You do not say you would require the four years in order to comply with the requirements of the.
Act? No; but there is something more than an Act of Parliament to be considered. It is a question 
of making a useful and profitable harbour. That consideration would compel the corporation to dredge 
to the additional depth.
630. Mr. 2'ricketl.} Would the 15-foot channel, as a matter of fact, be of any use ? It would be some
use, but it would not be equal to a channel 23 feet in depth. There is a tendency now' to employ big 
ships or steamers carrying from 3,0tX) to 4,CMX) tons. _
631. Suppose the dredge, which has becMi referred to, were put at your disposal, how long would it take 
you to transport it from the place where it now is to inside Lake illawarra? There is no dredge connected 
with the plant at present—the hull would be required to be built and launched. The plant has been 
lying unused for tno last two years. I should think it would take six mouths to put it into serviceable
condition. _
632. You think it would take that period to make the plant available for dredging purposes at Lake 
Illawarra? It might be done in less time ; but I should say that it would take six months.
633. Y"ou were eiainiiied with reference to tho proposed harbour of refuge at Port Kembla iu reference 
to this matter, and at Question 4485 you were askw: “ How long is it since you were prepared to go on 
with dredging operations ”? and you answered, “ I suppose I have had plans and particulars from San 
Francisco for twelve months ; I am not prepared to go on with tho work now. It would take at least 
four months to get the machinery here —you still adhoro to that statement ? Yes.
634. So that if you had to get tho plant from America it would take eight months, and if you bad to 
get Dr. Hayes’ plant it would tii ke you six months before you could make a start with dredging operations ?
Yes ; in any case the dredge would require to bo built on the shores of the lake.
635. Mr. Moseley.} How long would it take to put a dredge together if one were brought out from 
England in sections ? I should think it could be done in four months.
636. You now produce a copy of your contract ? Yes ; a copy of tho contract, dated 23rd September,

637. Mr. Trickett.} Has there been another contract since then? Y’es; but the terms and conditions 
are identical. All tho engineering specifications are precisely the same. The terms of settlement aro 
somewhat different. Tho corporation have to pay 90 per cent, monthly on the work done. Those are the 
terms of the last contract, which has excluded tho railway. The last contract referred only to the harbour 
works, but there was a clause to the effect that all the conditions of the contract I now produce should 
apply to it.
638. Chairman.} According to the terms of the new contract the corporation make monthly nayments, 
retaining 10 per cent, uniil tho work is finished? Under the original contract I was to take half in 
debentures ami half in cash. Under contract No. 2 I am paid in cash monthly at tho rate of 90 per 
cent, on the value of tho work done at scheduled prices.
639. To sum up the whole matter, you have no doubt as to your ability to comnleto the works to a depth 
of 15 feet, and tho breakwaters and training-walls, according to the orimnal plana and specifications 
within two years from December next, if that extension of time be granted? None at all.
6t0. You are quite competent to do tho work;—you have no doubt as to that? No doubt whatever.
As Mr. Darley has said, the work is simple and easy ; it is only a question of plant aud money.
641. Mr. Trickett.] Do I understand that tho contract of 13th September, 1895, is the one now in existence
for this work ? It is not. t , .
642. Mr. Moseley.} But with the exception of the date of completion and tho terms of settlement and
prices, the contract dated September, 1895, stands good ? Yes: all the other conditions remain in force.
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R. Amo*. G18. Mr. Trickett.-] In the f “tract a copy ^thf S^’contraTo^to^ ploc^ed ^^ith ”tht
company ahall not on or before the 13 h Wch,

ept..A, otW.han^th.^™ fin. to ao so" ;-i, t„c. o si.„ilar

rndl? S St"ou . W^uTi-holo thing ? Tboro is no ti.e Ii,„it. 

oil fresh S^eo“:t’:ce'’f ,onrse!t and tho corporation in writing, or is it a vcrhal

ofrr‘rr JetO VniTot or will vou not. produce the contnrct at presont in --f ncojtotw.^n jou IVd tto hlafarra ilarhonr and Land -Corporation for those harbour work. ? I can produce my offer to

them, dated, I think, a4.pril, 1897.
oto vrat‘t‘re°®fefe™s‘'f£'the^«ceptanoe? I cannot toll yon the terms of acceptance, hut 1 can toll

n^So“ r.«X\1c“^X/;ot?c:nTnr:" you have produced, you are to Im paid partlv in
ciS; and partly in dobontnros ? That is i hero the variation comes in. I accepted a rc.lnced rate, prouded

an^^lanse in the oonlract under which the company can fJ™«;^Vvlctly

moment ? I do not think so ; but I will forward you a copy of my offer, and nou mil then see exnc y
how the matter Blonds. _________

Stephen Henderson called in, sworn, ami ci.amined
S.H«ndcrson.0.V2. "What is vour profession? I am a civil engineer Tama

.----^ G53. Havo vou any connection with tho Illawarra iUvhouv and Lan.l
•j‘JSepi.,1898. member of the firm’ of Harper, Harper, and Hendoraon, who are engineers to the Illawarra Harbour a i

Land Corporation. 
6.51. \Vill you 
to form a harbour

produce a plan and explain the proposed works to tho Committee ? Tcb. It is 
to jorm a naroour at Lake Illawarra hy cutting an entrance channel through the " J f ,
separates the Lake from tho ocean, protecting the entrance channel by tho f ^ ^
training-banks and breakwaters slightly curved on plan; by drcaging a channel .r
bottom from the entrance across the Lake to Tnllawera Point; by dredging a slopping basin at

dredgings _. .
and the channel is 25 feet 0 inches below mean tide-level. • • y, • *i t-i.«
Ck)3 Chairman.] What is tho nature of the bottom of tho Lake? It is mud principally m the Lake. 
As you come near the entrance there is sand. The mud is very soft on the surface, but as you go down 
a few feet it stilVens. The whole of the material we have found can be easily removed by sand-pump

05G.^Iave you carefully calculated tho quantities of material in the breakwaters and training-walls? Yes. 
G57. Are you aware that Mr. Darley has stated that you have under-estimated the quantities considerably, 
and that the quantities required to make a suitable job would bo considerably increased, if not double 
your estimate ? I have taken out the estimate again, and have checked my own quantities.
G5S. Have you a diagram or section of the breakwater ? There is a diagram of tho breakwater on the plan. 
G50. Have Vou estimated the time it would take tho contractor, supposing the extension is granted, to 
complete tlic work ;—do vou, as professional adviser to the company, say that tho work can be c.xecuted 
in the two years asked fo’r, dredging the channel to a depth of 15 feet and erecting the training-walls and 
breakwaters ? Yes, it can be done. Of course, if you complete tho channel to a depth of 15 feet 
instead of 23 feet, the end portions of the breakwaters are not requii-ed.
G60. Have you tested the stone on AVindang Island ? Yes; it seems to be very good.
CAW. Is it strong enough to withstand the wash on the outer face ? Yes ; tliere is a mass of rock on tho 
island which shows very little weathering indeed. The edges arc sharp, although they have been battered 
bv storms for a long time.
602. The presumption is that storms would wash away the softer part of tho strata and leave tho harder
part in sharp angles? Yes. _
t)G3. Can you tell the Committee tho quantity of material that you would require to deposit per day upon 
these training-walls in order to do the work in eighteen months from the time of starting? Mr. Amos, 
in his contract made a year or so before the Port Ivemhla inquiry', contracted to llnish the breakwaters in 
eighteen months. I went into tho amount of stone which would be required to be deposited, aud I found 
that it was about 10,000 tons a month over one tip.
GGt. Would that bo enough ? No ; we shall work four.
G05. Then there would be 40,000 a month? Yes.
GGG. Or about 1,500 tons to tho ordinary working-day ? Yes. If that record were kept up it would take 
one year and four and a half months, but, of course, you must allow a margin over and above that. Tho 
contractor has to get his plant ready.
6G7. He would have to erect several large cranes to lift that quantity of material ? Yes.
GG8. Would you use common tip trucks to tip the stone off, and leave it to find the angle of repose ? A 
gutter will be dredged to a certain extent to receive the stone, but not the whole depthway.
GG9. AVliat extent of plant would be required at tho quarry to get tho necessary stone quarried and 
removed? I have not gone into the question of the number of cranes you would require. Y'ou would 
want several. That is more a question for the contractor. The estimate I make does not involve an excessive 
rate of yvork.
G70. Is it your opinion that, with ordinary plant, the quantity of material you have stated can be quarried, 
moved, and deposited in its place within the time stated ? In eighteen months from the time tho con­
tractor starts diligently with the W’ork.
671. Have you any knowledge or experience of Mr. Amos’reputation as a contractor? He carried out 
the railway for us down there, and I was very well satisfied yvitli it. I have heard from other sources

that
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that he ia a capable and experienced contractor, although I have not been peraonally acquainted with him Hendmon. 
in any other contract.
072. Have you ever had your quantities in relation to this work submitted to tho Government staff in 229ept,,18itf. 
tho Harbours and Uivors Department ? No.
073. You do not know whether or not they would endorse their correctness? No ; T cannot say, as far 
as the quantities arc concerned.
074. Will the work be carried out under the supervision of your firm ? Yes,
075. Mr. Dai/.] Have you an estimate of the cost of tho entire work from Tallawora Point right down to 
tho sea, at a depth of 15 feet ? I havo not taken out tho amount required to make a channel 15 feet 
deep. We entered into a contract with Mr. Amos for a cliannel 25 feet 0 inches below mean tide-level.
1 have not any estimate as to the old depth.
C70. Mr. Jacob.] But if you get the additional time aske*l for, you will be only required to carry out the 
15 foot ? Yes. Roughly speaking, 1 should say wo would require £100,000 to carry out the work to the 
15-foot level.
G77, Mr. Dag.] Is there any portion of the sandbank you are cutting through above tho level of the 
water ? Y^es ; there is a sandridge close to the beach, and it is above the water, separating the Lake from 
tho ocean. There is a channel there which sometimes closes up. In flood-time it opens up again. What 
that is at present, T do not know.
G78. What would be the distance from the middle of that sandbank to a depth of 25 feet in the sea­
water ? About 1,700 or l.SOO feet.
G79. I'bat would give you a depth of 25 feet at low-water ? Yes.
GSO. Would tho training-walls be extended as faras that ? Y’es.
G81. Is there any danger of the breakwater beyond tho sandbank being washed away? It will be 
exposed to the sea, but it will bo protected by Windang Island from the heaviest weather.
(»S2. The position is not like that at Port Kembla, where there is no protection? No ; there is a much 
njore sheltered place than Port Kembla ; and there is also this difference, as f.ar as the work is concerned :
That the moles run straight out to the sea at Lake Illawarra, and therefore would not suffer so much ns 
though they were broadside on.
683. Mr. Jacob^ Y’ou are aware that under the Act the corporation, if it does not fulfil the conditions, is 
liable to certain pains and penalties ;—they lose certain property, and they lose their deposit ? They lose 
their rights and their deposit.
GMl. Do you know the deposit which has been made under the Act ? £10,000,
G85. Then they would lose that amount if they did not fulfil the conditions of the Act ? Yes.
C8U. Chairman.] Where did you get the data on which to calculate the cost of dredging the channnel;— 
is it taken from the Government dredging returns ? We have not studied them so much. We got a lot 
of data from Home in connection with the dredging plant. They have done the work as cheaply an lid. 
per ton. That would bo by sand-pump. The cost per yard of dredging depends upon the circumstances 
of the place. To compare one place with another is useless; you might find yourself very far wrong. 1 
think the <lredging in this place will be done as cheaply as it has ever been <lone, because of tho material 
aud of the facilities. I thiuk it would bo quite safe to take any contract at about 3d. a ton. I believe 
Mr. Amos’ contract comes out roughly at 4d. a cubic yard,
G87. Mr. Jacob.] You are thoroughly acquainted with the conditions of the Bill you are dealing 
with ? Yes.
G88. Y'ou are aware that the -1th clause contains this provision:—

That the conditioon imposed under clause one of the Principal Act shall lie compicteil in accordance with the 
provisions specified tiiereiu, within tlie tonn of two years from the twentieth ilay of I>ccembcr, one thousand eight 
miodrcd and ninety-eight, failing which all harbour rights and privileges acquired under the Priucipal Act shall 1>a 
null and void, and all reclaimed land shall revert to the Crown.
? Yes.
G89. Mr. Trickett.] Have you ever had any experience in harbour works ? Y’es; I have been upon 
harbour works pretty well all my life. I served my apprenticeship to Mr. Dyco C’ay, harbour engineer, 
at Aberdeen, and then I went into Mr. Jas. Abornethy’s office. I was also at the Tilbury Docks when 
they were being constructed, from start to finish.
GUO*. 1 understand that you have carried out similar works to this ? Every harbour has features of its 
own. In Aberdeen Harbour there are breakwaters, but they arc made of concrete ; and as far a.s dredging 
is concenied, it is similar everywhere—also jetty work.
G9L What quantity of stone do you estimate will bo required for tho purpose of these breakwaters?
"My estimate is 139,000 tons for the northern breakwater, 153,000 tons for the southern breakwater,
35,000 tons for the northern training-bank, and 73,000 tons for the southern training-bank.
G512. In round numbers, -100,000 tons ? Yes.
003. How many tons a day do you say can be taken out of tho quarry and put iu position ? About 1,G00,
I should think.
GOl. You think that (juantity could be put in position every day ? Yes.
G95. How m.any tips would that necessitate ? Four.
GOO. It would be very fast work, would it not? It is fairly fast work for this Colony.
G97. Have you ever known more than 400 tons a day to bo taken out to any work of the kind in the 
Colony? No ; I do not know that I have. In the case of Government work.s they do not proceed at a
very groat rate. _
G98. Mr. Day.] Have you heard of that quantity being taken out anywhere else? It is not an excessive
quantity by any means,
000. A great deal more could be taken out, you think ? Yes.
700. Chairman.] Working one tip, you estimate, then, that tho long breakwater could be constructed In 
fifteen months ? Yes.
701. Mr. Trickett.] In case of heavy weather the work might be retarded at any time? Yes.
702. Mr. Ilyam.] Would heavy weather affect the tic-bank ? It would scarcely affect that, because it is
well protected by Windang Island.
703. Is there much depth of water between the island and tho maiulaud at the present time? When I 
was last down there it was dry.

704.
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8. H«nder»cn. 704. Chairman.l To Tvliat height above high water-mark do you intend to make the crown of your largest
training-wall ? At tho pea end it will be 17 feet above low water, or about 12 feet above high water.
705. Ip it reasonable to eipcct that if Parliament gives the extension of time asked for—two years—the 
whole of the work will be done? If we get authority to proceed, we shall have the work done to a depth
of 16 feet within the two years. . .
700. Considering bad weather and everything ? 1 would say this: Mr. Amos ought to havo the traming- 
hanks and moles completed within eighteen months from the time notice is given him, but in his contract 
ho had two years and four months, roughly, to complete the dredging—of course that would be dredging 
to a depth of 25 ft. 6 in.; therefore it is quite obvious that he will bo able to dredge to 15 feet within two 
vears. Allowance should be made in all sea works for bad weather. ,
707. You think that tho whole work, dredging to tho extra depth, could bo done in two years at a little 
extra cost for additional plant ? Of course, tho dredging all depends upon the plant you have upon tho 
work. Dredges are very costly, and more than one would bo useless afterwards. ,
70.S. If the necessary capital is at command, you think that tho work can be don© in two years P Yes ; it 
can be done to a depth of 15 feet. _ _
709. Mr. Jacob."] I suppose, from the fear of not being able to carry out the 2J1 feet of dredging in the 
time, only the 15 feet were specified; but that would not interfere with Mr. Amos carrying out the 
contract to a depth of 23 feet ? No. The company could not go to the public in Ijondon and get money 
now for carrying out a 23-foot channel in two years, because the time is too short.
710. Mr. Trickett ] Do you look upon 15 feet as a serviceable channel in the present day ? Not for largo 
steamers.
711. Therefore we may expect that in two years’ time there will be a further extending Bill required ? I 
should not think so.
712. But you do not say that you can complete your 25 ft. 6 in. in two years ? It may be possible to do 
it with great extra expense ; but it is absolutely certaiu that wo can complete the 15 feet in two years.
713. Is 15 feet iu the present day regarded as a sufficient depth for ordinary sea-going coal vessels? No ; 
I should not think it was. It has never been intended, since I havo been in Sydney, to dredge the channel 
to a depth of only 15 feet. It will be necessary to make the channel considerably deeper.
714. The whole tiling depends, as far a.s you can see, upon tho question of ways and means? Yes ; and 
Parliamentnrv sanction, of course.
7L5. Mr. Day.] I suppose the nature of tho work Is such that you can put on as many men and dredges 
as you like ? Fes ; it would be a question of paying for the extra plant and labour, but within reasonable 
limits.
71G. It could be done easily if the money were available at once, aud were not forthcoming in dribs and 
drabs? Yes.
717. With the whole of the capital available, you would havo no difficulty in putting on a number of 
dredges and men sufficient to carry out the complete work very shortly after tho expiration of two years— 
that is, giving the extra depth in the channel? Quito so.
719. Mr. Trickett.] 1 supjiose you can give us no information ns to tho ways and moans ? No.
710. Who could give us information about that ? Mr. de Wolf.

WEDNESDAY, 28 SEPTEMBEE, 1809.

present;—
The Hon. A. KETHEL in the Chair.

Hon. G. day.
Hon. S. H. HYAM.

Hon. W. .1. TRICKETT,

Robert Amos recalled and further examined :—
R. Amos, 720. Chairtnaii.] You produce your second tender, and the conditions attached to it? Yes, bearing date 

;---- *---- , 22nd April, 1807.
28Sept.,1898. 721. This is the tender alluded to by you in your previous evidence ? Yes.

722. Under the terms and conditions of that tender, you are prepared to proceed with tho works? On 
receipt of reasonable notice.
723. And to complete it in the time specified? I am very desirous of obtaining a distinct understanding 
as to what the two years refer to. Certain work has to be done to comply with tho provisions of the 
Principal Act. I am prepared to carry out the works therein set forth in two years from tho date of my 
being instructed to proceed with the works.
724. Mr. Trickett.] The document you havo produced is a tender, dated 22nd April, 1897 ? Yes.
725. Was it accepted ? It has been verbally accepted.
726. Only verbally ? Yes. There was no use in going to the expense of drawing up an elaborate contract,
as was done before, until we knew that tho matter would be proceeded with.
72/. Mr. Day.] In your previous evidence, you said that the only reason for your not going on with the 
work was the want of money ? Exactly. lam quite prepared to adhere to the terms and conditions 
mentioned m the documents which have been handed in.
728. Mr. Trickett.] You say that within two years of your getting notice to proceed, you will have tho
work done according to the terms of the Principal Act ? Yes, to a depth of 15 feet
720. Who made the verbal promise to you to accept the tender ? Mr. Armstrong, the managing director 
and also the secretary of the corporation. ®

Andrew Armstrong called in, sworn, and examined :__
A.Am*irong.730. Mr. Trickett.] Do you remember being examined at considerable length in connection with the 

^ inquiry into the Port Kembla Harbour scheme as proposed by the Government ? I do. 
ajSept., 1898. Your evidence was in opposition to that Scheme ? It was. *

TA2. Do you wish to in any way alter the evidence you gave on that occasion? No; I havo no recollection 
of anytoiDg that needs alteration.

733.
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Ifl 'I? manaRing director In Sydney of tho Illawarra Harbour aud Land Corporation? I am A. Ar<nriron*. 
7.U. Tlic other members of your Hoard are. I think. Lioutonant-Colonel Noild • *
1 MYen. .................... .....................-^‘Uiurv, ^iuut«uu.ui.-v^uioriei iseim and Mr. Chippeudall ?
"of Company’

SrpomUonlfEnin™? Wat''L'‘!;o“ror"

7Z7. Who are the directors in England of that corporation at the present time? Mr. George Bush Mr. T H
Jiono^f’ -A- tio Wolf. Mr. Keswick and Sir John Fowler aro on Boards
connectod with Illawarra Lnko development. The names I have given you are those of the directora at 
the la«t naif-yearly meeting.
73S. Who is Mr. Bush ? 1 really cannot tell you anything about him, but Mr. de Wolf can, no doubt
give you all tho information you require on that point. uuuut,
73ft. Mr. Ifyam.] Is Mr. Haynes an Australian? No.
740. Was he in the Colony at any time? As far as I know, he never was.
nf Vow J managing director of the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation
ot New South \V ales, and hold a power of attorney, you cannot tell me who Mr. Bush and Mr Havnes
are ? I am a^vaP6 from correspondence that they are wealthy men—men of substance. I have had other 
transitions with Mr. Haynes m matters entirely outside Illawarra connections.
74.. lou do not know the occupations of these gentlemen ? No.
n3. lou are put down m the holder of one sLro in the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation of

if Company? Shares to tile value of
i<100,0(K) are placed in trust for my wife and family.
744. How much has been paid up on those shares ? I think that evidence has already been clearly given 
but to repeat it again it means that when the original syndicate was formed 1 invested about £18 000 in 
^^ho\iraon7reprosonting afterwards in the general selticment lietween the syndicate

745. 1)0 you know how many shares Mr. de Wolf has-hc. himself, could not tell us the other day? No.
or £150 OlXt”" interest in the company would probably amount to £140,000

immin^lTsirof £500 the English Company ? I think he has shares to the

747. How were the shares acquired? Ido not know that I could tell you.
^t hnow how? I know that ho had a very small interest iu the formation of the first 

, J * ir settlement of shares afterwards in tho colonial company all was trans­
° nu- J purpose of enabling him to finance in London. The allotmcut afterwawU,

Tompany ® in his case at £500, representing some small interest in the

74ft. Tour other director, Lieutenant-Colonel Neild, also has some shares in the London Comnaur® 
Speaking also from memory in liis case, I think he has a value of £1,000. ‘ ^ '
7oO. How were those shares acquired? In the same way.
7ro‘ Yf interested in the company here ? Fro’m the very start.
752. Although his name did not appear as a shareholder in any list you published ? It did not: but he 
nacl a portion of ono of iny syndicate inter68ta a long time ago.
/53. You remember that before Mr. .Jarvis became tho secretary of the company vou did not liave annual 
meetings of Its shareholders as required by the Companies Act ? For a time they certainly lapsed. A 
largo portion of the syndicate and company at that time had been acquired by Melbourne and Adelaide 
interests. Ihis led the largest shareholders having the preponderating power, to a certain extent to 
neglect strict conformity with the articles of asssociation as regards lialf-yearly halanco-sheets and 
general matings ; but I take it that it did not affect any interMt at all outside the then existing share­
holders. Thev were not a company trading on capital or anything which would make the public in anv 
way inconvenienced by tlie fact that the company did not hold regular mootings. *
754. Did not Mr. do Wolf, the prime mover in this company, actually file, or cause to be filed, a petition 
to wind up the whole company ? Ho never did.
755. Heneverdid? Never.
750. You swear that? Most emphatically.
767. lie never took proceedings to have the company wound up in any way ? Most certainly not. Tho 
question must arise out of some very great error on your part.
758. You say it was not the ease ? I reply in the most direct manner that it was not so.
759. AYas not a petition absolutely filed to wind up the company? Mr. Moseley is hero, and would he 
better able than I am to explain certain difficulties timtdid arise,'principally from downright, sheer, black­
mailing claims. One or two petitions were filed against us. The company have not the slightest ob'iection 
to Mr. Moseley laying the detail.s before tho Committee.
7G0. Then some petitions wore lodged ? Yes ; but certainly not by Mr. do Wolf. Certain black-mailin'' 
attempts were made to embarrass the company for reasons entirely connected with other matters. It is 
not at all necessary to refer to them now, although I do not shirk their being gone into.
7G1. Mr. do\Yolf had nothing to do with the jietition ? Nothing whatever.
7G2. Did the Smelting Company of Australia ever have any interest in tho Illawarra Harbour and Land
Corporation? Yea, it has a very large interest in it; it owns at least 10,000 shares in the Illawarra 
Harbour and Railway Corporation.
763. Mr. Ilt/am.] At how much a share? They are shares fully paid up. They have a preferent right in
our company.
704. Mr. l^ickeif.] They are paid-up shares, with no liability ? Yes.
765. Did they not actually i>ay the money to get out of tho concern? They were never in the concern before 
that.
766. What did they pay the £10,000 for? Because, in connection with their works, a still-water harbour
is an absolute necessity. To forward the views of the com])aiiy an amalgamation of our rights and 
interests took place. They joined us in our attempt to strengthen and make our company financiallv 
stronger by investing £10,000 in it. ' *

767.
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707. You ..7 that bofore that tboy haJ no intoroat of any WnfJ. I'-
^ Corporation Good, bad, or indifferent, they ” J '' . wbieh thev erected iheir works.

2ttSfpt.,1898.7Qt^ They bought land from you, did llu-v not ? ^ ° land, not milv to iho Smeiting
7(50. What did they nay font? I should explain , n updow'n tliore, niul wc aro
Companv of Au.«itrali.a, but to other peo].le. A townslnp is gradually spnn^mg i
seliiug laud at the rate of from £200 to £300 an acre. „{ the Jiakelands Kstato to Mr. Vink
770. Did not Mr.do Wolf, on the 20th July, ° ,t\on ^ 1 presu.no
for 10s. ;-did he not make a conveyance of the ^ 'LTLa a nrepon!lcrating
he did. I do not remember the connecting Ueing a prcponieniting share-
shareholder, and it was uei'essary lor him to use hia p assigned at a later
holder, he used certain powers, but the proi>erty all caino l ack to us when .Mr. 11 b
.late; 'l>™“Sh‘he flnnncml crisis bo fniM/oenr^^^ i„to Iho hands of the Joint
771. Did not the property, after Mr. do M olf had signed that documen . believe and wo paidst'Si' St .rs.sr.s: .t.

S£t;s.r tzz sSSi::" stsJtSES fis £
property m.ght be brought under Tor^n,; Ao_t aud jottlo d.rputes^|«
773. Tho 
and Land
1'tdon'whSSrr;.ToThL"im:WngVou.p;;; oTAultrihA-Tio-Caurde„ “Etploration Company 

maul r/camdeu Exploration Company ? .Mr. de AVolf

rr;.T,ssy
rvrrf'^^tTefarfaU trfL''"Lpany ;-Mr. do Wolf, for inatanoo. is in tho Camdou Exploration 

A°n"Sk Smoltg clp^Sy!” nd't Th?!illwarr?H.rhotr' and Lan“d‘Crro^tion a^d “thoTlawarra

Luld you do 80 now ? Yes ; I have no objection to the secretary laying a completed tabulated list ot 

yrHltve vo^i managing director, any objection to your secretary laying
aoDcndix to his evidence giving the names of tho various companies that have sprung out ot tho 
ifiawarra Harbour and Land Corporation Bill, their variouB capitals, the names of their “"‘J
directors, and the shares held bv each person? I do not know wlmt evidence Mr. do AV olf has gntn, but 
I should say that he would be tlie best person from whom to obtain that information.
779. Would not you or the secrctarv' of tho Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation be able us
that evidence ? T have not a comp'leto list of the shareholders m the Illawarra Harbour and Railway
Corporation, although I havo their power of attorney.. ,, , e , • • i • .i,780. Have vou information as to the capital subscribed and uncalled of these various companies which you 
could let us have? I do not know whether I could get any information with regard to the brael ing 
Company of Australia, but I could probably do so. 1 see no objection to tho secretary giving that
information if be is summoned to give it in the ordinary way. l „ i,
781. You have no means to carry out this project at tho present moment—that is to say, you have no cash 
in hand? We have not enough cash in hand for it, but our income is now rapidly increasing. It has risen 
from a mere grazing return on a pastoral estate to its present proportions. A year ago wo had an mcomo
of about £1,000 a year, now it is worth between £3,500 and £4,000.
782. That is from the Lakelands Estate and from your railway rights? The income is made up of railway
returns and grazing returns. , .. „ ,»! it i
783. Do the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation own the railway ? los. The Illawarra liarbour
and Railway Corporation in l/ondon own the principal shares in the Illawarra Harbour and Jiand 
Corporation in order that financial operations may be carried out iu London. They have only a directory
power in the Colony. , , , . p i c o
784. Mr. Amos said the other day that he had a mortgage over tho whole thing for a large sum ot money f
So he has. « •c' nr * • • * i
785. Beyond his interests you receive tliis largo income from your property ? los. Mr. Amos interest
is about £2,000 a year, and this year our returns will bo over £4,OUO. _
786. You arc referring now to the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation ? Y’es.
787. That income is chiefly from the railway ? And from grazing. It is a very largo estate, 
great deal of stock.
788. Has there not l>een a life estate granted out of this property to some ono ? To no ono ; excepting 
about 10 acres to William Hewett at fair rental.
789. So that you have the grazing rights also ? We get everything.
790. To sum up your evidence, at the present time your company thiuk you can carry out this project if 
you can raise tne money to do so ? Undoubtedly.
791. Unless you can raise the money, you cannot carry it out? We cannot carry it out. But we also 
think that the trade already establisKei will make the finding of the necessary capital a very simple matter. 
Mr. Weinberg has no doubt given you figures showing you tho importance of the smelting operations, and 
also the necessity of making further connecting lines to cheapen the cost and bring in a greater variety 
of fluxing matter and ores.
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TUBS DAT, 11 OOTOBEH, 189S.

JIrmnt: —
Thk TEon. a. KKTIIEL in the CdAiR.

I[()N. (f. DAY',
IIo.v. .S, U. HY'AM.

JIoN. YV. J. THICKETT.

Hon. j. m'(}HES. 
Hon. Dh. CULLE.V,

YV. II. Moscly, Eaq., Solicitor, appeared on behalf of tho promoters of the Bill.

Andrew Arinetroiig recalled and further examined :—
7i)2 ^r. Trickrtt.) You havo a return to hand in ? I have iircparcd a return of all the shareholdcrH iu a Arn..tron» 
the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation from its inception in 18SS, and for each year up to 1894 
when Mr. Do YYolf went to London. Tho number is brought down, because tho shares wore then trans* 11 Oct 1838. 
forrod to him for financial purposes, leaving tho number boro at twelve. Mr. De Wolf will give you *
evidence ns to how his financial operations have led, practically, to a return of his power of attorney or 
trust to all tho other different shareholders. Ho will produce, partly from memory and partly from his 
absolute knowledge on tho day he left London, an account of tlio ownership of the shares in London un 
to tlie present <lay. J have a list of sharoholdora from 1889 up to 1895, ineJusivo. In 1889 tho number 
of shareholders in tho Colony in tho Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation was 38 • in 1890 42 • in 
1891, 42 ; in 1892, 43 ; in 1893, 39 ; in 1894, 17; and in 1895, after transfers to Mr. Do Wolf 12* I 
should explain that in 1805 most of tho shareholders decided to send Mr. Do YVolf home,’and in 
addition to giving him power of attorney ho took an absolute transfer of tho shares. His own evidence 
will connect tho formation of tho London company with what ho did with the Colonial shares I should 
like to point out at this stage that I hardly thiuk it wise to hand in this document as an addendum to my 
evidence, and to havo all these names published. It would scarcely bo right to publish the names of share- 
holdcrs, and it will add enormously to tho volume of Parliamentary papers. There are many reasons 
why this incomplete list of tho names should not be jmblishod if it can be avoided. As I have explained 
the whole of tho shares were transferred to Mr. Do YYolf for financial operations iu London. There have 
never been less than twelve shareholders here, and I understand that it would be illegal for twelve share­
holders to act unless iu the form of a company. These twelve shareholders really represented forty-three 
interests. I believe that, under the Limited Liability Companies Act, no more than seven persona can 
trade together without being formed into a limited liability company.
793. Y'ou say that on 20th June, 1888, there were how many shareholders ? Thirty-eight.
704. The whole of tho names appear in tho document you now produce? Yes.
795. Did all these shareholders come in on an equal footing ? That I absolutely cannot tell you. A large 
number of these shareholders, sjicaking from memory, obtained their rights entirely through Melbourne 
shareholders, or through the Mercantile Piuanco Company, and Mr. Pink, who then held a very large
interest in tho company. 1 cannot answer the question ns to how tho whole of those persons acquired 
their shares. ^
79(5. Did they all pay a deposit on their shares ; aud, if so, what amount ? That I cannot tell you 
707. YV'ero any shareholders given their shares ? It is quite possible ; I cannot tell. *
798. Could you toll us tho names of the persons who had shares given them ? Not beyond members of 
my own family. At that stage I gave several of my children, and also several relatives, shares.
799. Did the whole of the other persons whose names appear in this list pay for their shares ? As far
as I know. *
800. You were ono of tho original promoters of this concerncould you not say ? I was ono of tho 
original promoters, who dealt with their shares as they thought fit and wise.
801. Are not some of these persons really nominees of yourself and Mr. De Wolf—that is, persons to whom 
shares havo been given ? 1 havo no nominees. Mr. Do YYolf can speak for himself.
802. Y'ou stated, at tho last inectiug of tho Committee, in your evidence, that Mr. J. C. Neild had been 
interested in tho company from tho very start ? That is quite correct.
803. Ho was interested in tho company on 28th June, 1888? Y'es; he had an interest in it with me 
before that date.
801. How did he acouire that interest? I really cannot tell you ; but I may say at once that, even if I 
could remember, I should decline to answer tho question. Mr. Neild aud I had many private and friendly 
transactions. YYe were in adjoining offices years and years ago. As a matter of fact, I do not remember 
tho exact particulars; hut even if I did I would not go into them.
805. Y'ou stated that ho had shares to the value of £I,(XM) independently of the ono share which is now 
registered in the companv ; when did he become interested to that extentis it the same interest ho 
has held all through ? It is the same interest. An allotment or a settlement was arranged with Mr Do 
YYolf when he wont to London, and the share or interest held by Mr. Neild led to his being fixed in tho 
London company, not in tho Australian company, to tho extent of £1,000. Tho interest was settled by 
Mr. Neild receiving for his old interest £1,0U0 worth of fully paid up shares in tho London company that 
was since Ylr. De YVolf went to London. ^ ’
800. YVas that arrangement whereby Mr. Neild took an interest to tho extent of £1,000 by virtue of tho 
arrangement made between you and him iu 1888 ? Yes; hy virtue of interest or rights in tho company 
springing out of hia transaction with me iu 1888. *
8t»7. lie has held that interest right through from then till now? Tes.
SOS. Judging from tho list of shareholder.^ you have banded in, showing tho names of shareholders from
1888 until October, 1897, Mr. Neild does not appear as a shareholder until we come to the list apDlvinu to 
1897 ;—is not that so ? That is so. i r j b
809. YVas this arrangement between you and Mr. Neild, giving him h:s interest in tho concern, in writing ?
I do not think it was. It was a settlement of nian;^ mutual transactions. I agreed to put him into it and 
I did put him into it in about the year of our starting the concern. ’
810. You are certain that you gave him an interest in tho concern in 1888—an interest which vou reckon
to-day is worth £l,(X)0 ? Yes. '

c 18—E
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A. 811. And ho alao haa one share in the Sydney company, which he has registered? The^aro m the [‘Sydney
Armitrong. company means tliat he had a share in tho company which was settled by tho allotment m tho London

comnanv. One of tho shares he still holds hero. , ,, ii i, •. looo
11 Ort., 1898. Has ho hold it long? Ever since the date of the allotment to him under the old arrangement m 1888

8*1^^8*it a bon&Jide claim which he has in this company ? It is a hand jide claim against me, settled by

my putting him into the earlier syndicate. »* _ j
814. ̂  Jfr. Trickett}] In the list of shareholders you have handed in, the name of Mr. Armstrong appears ,
he is described as an agent in Sydneywho is he? Myself. , , . • i i o * * 4i,^
815. He is set down as holding 587 shares in the company ; what is their nominal value. At tho present
time nothing at all—unless the harbour rights aro kept aliye.

Thomas Andrew Uc Wolf recalled and further examined:
T. A.DeWolf,

U OcU, lb98
817. Were the whole of the ah'ares set down opposite the names of the persons in that list taken up bond 
fide by them on an equal footing ? It was the outcome of the first syndicate.

*818 I)id each of these persons put in an application for their shares and pay the same amount of deposit 
when they received allotment ? They were allotted, as far as I remember, ten years ago under an agree­
ment. A syndicate was formed in the first instance, aud these shares were allotted under that syndicate.
819. Who allotted them ? They were allotted by the syudicate.
820. Of which you were one ? Yes.
821. Were you the chairman? There was no chairman. c * • * i
822. You were the principal ? I was connectod with it. I bought the proncrties m the first instance, and
then Mr. Fink, of Melbourne, Mr. Armstrong, Mr. Friend, and several others came in, and wo termed a
syndicate. . ^
823. AYhat were the shares ? £100 shares, paid up to £50.
824. Considered as paid-up to £50 ? Yea. fji.ii. j- »
825. The amount was not actually paid? There was a certain amount of money found by the syndicate,
and in consideration of that they had an allotment of shares. There was £50 cousidered paid-up and £oO
of liability. It is a very usual way of forming a company.
826. Take one or two of these names—Mr. F. Orr, for instance, who held 140 shares did he nay the 
eaiDC deposit as was oaid by the other owners? I do not think he paid anything. He holding the
shares for someone else. t» v i e
827. In this list there is tho name of a gentleman who is not familiar to me—Mr. Boehma, salesman, of 
Sydney ; he is set down as holding JOO shares;—did he pay anything for them ? llis shares were allotted, 
I think, by direction of Jfr. Fink, who held a very large interest in the syndicate.
8^. Then a number of these names arc mere nominees ; that is what it amounts to • I do not know why 
the shares were put down in these different names. I cannot say whether tho names you see there are 
tho names of persons who were really interested or not.
829. They are not actually bondjide Bubfcribiiig shareholders? Mr. Fmk was entitled to a large amount, 
as he held the largest interest in the syndicate. He instructed us to issue shares in the names of the
various persons, and they were issued accordingly. • i o mL i
830. ilr. Barton, I see, had thirty shares, and he has only one share now how is tliat ? Tho shares
were transferred to the London register. I explained tiiat iu my former evidence. ^
831. Are all the persons in this list bond Jxdt shareholder.^, or are there not a number of nominees of 
yourself, Mr. Fink, or some other persons? I think the groat number of them were nominees of Mr. 
tink. He was entitled to a large number of shares in the sj-ndieate, aud he gave us instructions to allot 
them to those persons. Whether they paid for them or not, I do not know.
832. Mr. Rughet.] Are any of the persons whoso names appear on the list nominees of your own ? Mr. 
Orr was my nomination, and there is a trifling number of shares—twenty, I think—in another case.
833. A good number of these shareholders were nominees of yourself and of Mr. Fink as the largest 
shareholders? Yes; the syndicate was practically forme<l by Mr. Fink, Mr. Armstrong, and myself. 
Two or three other persons came in with us. We wore a syndicate of about nine or teu in the first 
instance. We found money to purchase tho properties, and took shares in the property. That is all we 
ever had. We never got anything but shares.
834. Mr. Trickett.] When you gave evidence before the Select Committee in 1889 you were asked 
questions with reference to tho hond-Jides of the company. For instance, you were asked: “ As to tho 
hond-Jidet of the company, have you the slightest reason to doubt that the directors have the intention of 
carrying on these works themselves?” and you answered “ Not the slightest.’’ You were also asked: 
“ They are not trying to get a Bill to sell ? ” and you answered “ No”;—do you think you adhered strictly 
to the terms of tliat evidence? Certainly. We never tried to sell anything. All that we tried to do 
was to raise tho money to make the harbour. I think you are under a mistaken impression. We havo 
no power to sell. We are restricted by the Act of Parliament from selling cither our Bill or our 
concessions.
835. Mr. Hugbet.] You can sell land? Tes, wo paid for that, but we cannot sell concessions. Anything 
wo ask Parliament to give us, we have no power to sell.
836. Mr. Day.] You cannot sell the rights under your Act to anyone else ? No.
837. Afr. Trickett.] How are you going to make the harbour pay ? We must take the risk of that. We 
are satisfied that we can make it pay. \Ve have sufficient trade of our own. "We hope, before tho com­
pletion of the harbour, to create a larger trade ; so that wo are perfectly independent of the South coal 
irade. We want this harbour for our own works. When wo started the idea, it was to make a harbour 
for the South Coast coal trade. We expect to get some of it, and if we do not we have enough trade of 
our own.
838. When you asked for tho Bill originally, you said you did not expect to make any profit out of the 
harbour? 1 do not see how we are likely to make much.

839.
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839. Then, what is going to make the thing pay ;—are people going to put monoy into the concern, and T.A.DeWolf. 
get nothing out of it ? What we propose to do is this : Wo hare already spent a good deal of money in 
purehaao of land, and wo will put it all up as a guarantee. If tho harbour does not pay, we lose the land > 
and everything else. The debentures would be secured on the whole of the assets of the company.
840. Mr. Hughes.] What is the security of the debenture holders ? They have all the concessions—our 
harbour, railways, and our land.
841. How can they havo the concessions if you cannot sell them ? The Act expressly provides that we 
may give security on the concessions for the construction of the works.
812. That is tho Principal Act ? Yes.
843. Chairman.] There is one very important matter bearing upon this question: provided the Legis­
lature sees fit to grant the concession asked for by your committee, what guarantee have we that the 
money raised by your company will bo applied to the construction of the harbour? The debenture 
money will bo lodged in the hands of trustees. It will be raised for a certain purpose—to be applied to 
tho making of harbour and railway works. The directors of the company will not be able to apply the 
monoy in any way without the consent of tho trustees.
814. Y'ou think that that constitutes a sufficient guarantee that the money will be so expended as proposed 
if raised, because it can only bo raised if we grant you tho extension you are asking for you think, under 
tho circumstances, wo have sufficient justification in giving you the opportunity to raise the money ? We 
give everything we have got, including tho whole of our land. There is a floating charge over everything 
we bavo lor tho redemption of tho debentures.
8t5. "Who appointed tne trustees? The debenture-holders.
816. And tho money, when raised, will be placed at their disposal and control? Under their entire 
control.
847. To be expended upon the construction of harbour works? Yes.
818. Will no portion be liable to be applied to moot any liabilities which the company may have contracted 
before ? They will pay off tho cost of the railway, because that forms part of the works. They will have 
security over the railways. The debentures provide the funds which will pay for the harbour and railway 
work.
849. In what position do you stand in regard to the original vendors of the property ;—have you paid them 
fully, or do they hold any claim or mortgage upon the land ? Tbey have no claim whatever. They have 
been paid in full.
850. Mr. Hughes.] I understand that Mr. Amos has a general mortgage upon his contract, and that a 
company have advanced a certain amount of money and have a second mortgage for their protection ?
Yes ; but the mortgage of Mr. Amos does not represent anything like tlie cost of the railway. For 
instance, I found tho rails iu London. I think they cost about £6,000. The cost of the railway was 
much mure than the amount due to Mr. Amos.
851. What was tho cost of Mr. Amos’s mortgage ? £33,000 or £34,000.
852. Aro those tho only liabilities the company has ? Yes. A certain amount of money was found by 
Mr. Amos or tho Union Bank, pending tho flotation of our debentures.
853. Chairman.] So that if the money is raised in London a first charge will be the clearing of the existing 
mortgages on the property ? Yes, they must be all cleared off; but the £10,000 deposit will still remain 
in the Treasury.
854. Mr. Trickett.] When you obtained your Bill in 1889, you attached to your evidence the memorandum 
and articles of association of the company, in which you set out that the objects of the company were the 
purchaso of 2,920acres of Lakelands, 265 acres of coal land, and two blocks of 610 acres each to be obtained 
irom Mr. Vaughan ;—have the Illawarra Company now the whole of those properties? We have sold 
some 500 acres, and we have sold some few odd allotments.
866. Did the company sell them? Yes.
856. The company received the benefit of any sale ? Yes.
857. You are sure of that ? t^uite certain of it.
858. There is one other thing I want to know from you, since we cannot get it from Mr. Armstrong with­
out a great deal of explanation: wdll you detail to us tho original state of this thing, bringing it up to 
tho number of companies coming out of it at tho present time ; in the first instance there was a 
syndicate to buy the Lakelands Estate for £35,000, subject to a mortgage of £30,000 ? Yes; that was 
£65,000
859. It was then decided to form a syndicate for £240,000 ? Yes, for that and the coal lands. The price 
paid for the coal lands was £25,000, of which a portion was paid in syndicate shares.
860. Mr. Jlgam.] Were there not two sections of leasehold ? Yes; two sections were leasehold, and 
265 acres were freehold.
861. Mr. Trickett.] You have the whole of this land, less 500 acres? Yes, excepting a few odd allot­
ments which have been sold.
862. You were afterwards formed into the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation, with a capital of 
£600,000 ? Yes.
863. Out of the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation you formed another company called the 
Camden syndicate ? No ; it was not formed by that company.
804. Was not that Camden syndicate formed for tho purpose of purchasing the 500 acres which originally 
belonged to tho Illawarra Corporation ? That was one object.
865. Did not the Camden syndicate sell part of that 500 acres to tho Smelting Company of Australia ?
Yes.
860. What is the capital of tho Smelting Company of Australia? £500,000.
807. Would you mind saying how much is actually paid up? I think about £450,000 is paid up. They 
have in addition to that other funds; but I do not like to say too much iu regani to the business of that 
company. It is very well known, and they havo very big works.
868.^If all these companies and all this money has come out of the original Illawarra Harbour and Land 
Corporation, how is it that you are not able to carry on the works;—what has become of the money ?
They are different companies which have bought a certain amount of land. I was instrumental in forming 
the companies, and one of my reasons for forming them was to establish the smelting works. They are 
all going companies of very good reputation, and very strong. They have formed in addition other 
companies which are working. 869.
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T.A.PcWolf. 8G9. Your parting with the 500 acrea must havo brought in a large amount of money
,---- N whole of that gone to ? It went to pay off what wo owed ; it paid off Osborn * .

11^.1898.870 jfr 7Wm.] I thought that mortgage still existed? No; tho pnijicrty is absolutely tree, except for
what we onor pU of the construction o"f the railway. Tho railway now iscommcne.ng to pay us well.
It ‘ . » ,
a
872* W hat are you going 
demand for it it will bo ^oM. ^ ^
873. la the Camden Companv a registered company ? Yes. rnmn^nv
S74. AVhat is its capital ? £2tXl,(XK). I should eiplam that this m the ( amden ompauy.
Tho company which purchased tho land is the Cmndcu syndicate, lhat had .ClLO.OtKi of capital.
875. \Vhat is tho capital ot the Illawarra Harbour and Kailway Cori>oralion? It has the same nominal

VUM we owe lor pari oi luu ua .
t is iiaying interest on tho cost, so that practically wo have the l^d entirely tree.
i71 Air. Triclrlt.] You are a shareholder in all these companies ? les.
72. What arc vou going to do with the 200 acres left with the (. amden syndicyndieato ? When there is a

capital—£(KX),U00.
870. That corporation is registered in London ? "X cs. • • *- i«
877. Have you a list of the shareholders ? 1 havo it as nearly as possible. It is approximately «^orrwt.
I mav state that £20,000 has been found by thoso shareholders on tho ])urchaso of tbcir shares. 1 ho

tho extent of £20,WX1. I will 
Australia, showing that they

deemed it to be a necessity to havo harbour works at Lake Illawarra. It is a certified copy. 1 have a
similar letter from tho Camden Exploration Co. .
880. Jfr. .ffucAff*.] Do you expect the harbour to pay iu itself ? Yes, certainly.
881. Supposing it does not pay, what would bo the value of the securities paid to the dobcnturc-homers.
All our land ; they will have all we have got. , , . i > o
882. Then if the harbour docs not p^y the debenture-holders would have to look to the land . ics ; w*c, 
in fact, give more security than other harbour companies usually do. As a rule, they get money on tho 
harbour debentures aloue. \Vo give the whole of our assets as security.
883. Mr. Triekeit.] When you first applied to Parliament, you said that you did not expect tho harlHiur 
works to pay ? I do not think I said it would not pay the debenture-holders. That I cannot remember ;
it is a long time since I have seen tho evidence. . . . , i c*
8Si In reply to Question 859, when vou were asked, “ Is it the intention of the company to make profit 
out of this harbour—is that their main object ? ’’—you said, “ No ; that is not the main object of tho 
company; I can speak for the other directors as well as for myself aud most of the shareholders . It 
is a long time ago, aud tho answer might well apply to the question whether wo were going to sell the 
works at a profit, and not whether we wore going to work theui at a profit. The statement was made very 
likely in consequence of some statements that w'e wore about to sell tho concession or the harbour.
885. Mr. Hughes.^ If the harbour is not constructed tho works will not be interfered with ? Yes; wo 
shall certainly not extend the smelting works.
880. What I mean is, that it will not interfere with the present business at tho works ? Of course, the 
business is being done now at some disadvantage by having rail communication only. There arc many 
other industries that may be established. I was down there last week going into the question of estab­
lishing super phosphate works and alum works, but we cannot do lhat witliout water communication.
887. Mr, 2V/ciW/.] When you wore previously examined you will see that this matter was pressed on
you ;—you were asked, “Then I understand all the company is aiming at is to pay tho interest on tho cost 
of the construction of the harbour ? and you answered, Yes ? 1 do not suppose wo shall do more
than that. ,
888. n^en it will be a perpetual investment for these people—they need not expect to get their money 
back? Probably a reserve fund will be established from sales of land. Our object in taking up the 
harbour was this: we had purchased 3,000 acres of land, and w'c wanted to make this land valuable, 
which IS a fair and proper speculation. Wo havo stuck to it for ten years.
889. Cftairman.] What interest do you intend to offer on your debentures ? Pivo per cent,

U^PENDIX.

Letters from the Secretary of the Southenx Coal Company (Limited).
Sir, 0, Driflgc-strcet, Sydney, 21 St'|itcmher, I8[W.

As tny company is largely interested in the result of the Parliamentary consul oration of the variouH ]>rc)|)osH!s 
for the formation of a Southern htrlxiur, and is desirous of assisting the inquiry now being held in connection with the 
Ijike Illawarra Harls-jur Scheme, I Insg to ask permission to produce cvhlence lK*aring on the mallcT, and sliall be happy, 
on hearing from you, to name the gentlemen willing to give such evidence.

I have, Ac.,
F. H. BRACKENBURY,

The Secretary, Upper House Committee of Enquiry Secretary.
into the Luke Illawarra ilarliour Scheme.

Sir, 0, Bridge-street, Sydney, 23 September, 1898.
1 have to thank you for your letter of 22nd inst. with regard to evidence which wc dciirc to affonl your 

Committee tn connection with the pn^ent enquiry into the Lake Illawarra Hurl>onr Scheme.
Tlie gentle men who wish to give evidenee aro—(1) Dr. J. R- M. Kolkertsoii, and Messrs. \V, C. Willis and H. O. 

McCa1>e, who, as representing the colliery owners, would give their opinhio as to the suitability or otherwise of I^ako 
illawarra for the purposes of coal loading ; (2) Captains W. Mills and T. Downic, M*ho have proliably the liest local 
knou
Henderson
tho direction in which a harbour is most nccilcd.

M’lodge of Lake Illawarra and tho ncighIxmrhcHMl, in connection with the harlxmrage of steamers ; and (3) Messrs. O. 
dersoD and D. Ritchie, officials of tho Miners’ Association, who would give the views of the men generally as rcganls

W. L. Edwards, £s<i., Secretary, Tho Upiier House Select
Ck»mmitt^ of Enquiry into the Lake Illawarra Harbour Scheme.

I have, &c.,
F. II. BRACKENBURY,

Secretary.

Sydney: WUUam Aiqtlcgute QuUidi, Qoveramont Printer.
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Tkis PniVATE Bill originatei in the Legislative Council, and^ having this day 
pasipd, is now ready for presentation io the Legislative AssEMBLY^br its concurrence.

Legislative Council Chamber^ *)
SydneyNovember, 1898. ) Clerk of the Parliaments

flclu outij CiJales.

ANNO SEXAGESIMO SECUNBO

VICTOIlIiE IlP]GINyE. 
••«••••«»••••««•••««•«««««««•«»«»*»«•«*«•«
An Act to amend and extend the Illawarra Harbour and Land 

Corporation Act of 1890, and the Illawarra Harbour and 
Land Corporation Act Amendment Act of 1895.

\I 7 HEREAS the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation (Limited) pwambi*. VV (being a joint stock company duly incorporated and registered 
under the Companies Acts of 1874 and 1888, and hereinafter called 
the corporation), obtained on December twentieth, one thousand 

6 eight hundred and ninety, legislative authority to form and maintain 
an entrance and passage between the South Pacific Ocean and the 
waters of Lake Illawarra, in the county of Camden : And to construct, 
use, maintain, and in certain respects control and regulate a harbour 
within the waters of the said lake and of Windang Bay, in the said 

10 county of Camden: And to make, establish, maintain, and control 
wharfage and shipping accommodation in connection therewith, and to 
construct, work, use, and maintain line or lines of railway to connect 
with the said harbour all or any coal-bearing lands situate between 
the South Coast Colliery on the north and the Macquarie River on the
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Act, 1898.

Illawarra liarbour and Land Corporation Act Further Amendment.

south : And to reclaim, purchase, take, occupy, and otherwise acquire
land in certain cases, and on certain terms as to acquisition, compensa­
tion, payment, rent, investiture, and otherwise ; And to levy, receive, 
and recover rates, tolls, and dues for the use of the said entrance,

6 harbour, and accommodation, and for towage, and fares, freights, and 
other charges for the use of the said railways, and to confer and impose 
upon the said corporation certain powers, rights, duties, and liabilities :
And to extend the rights of owners of the foreshores of the said lake :
And for other purposes : And whereas the Act authorising such w ork

10 was by an Act amended on December twelfth, one thousand eight 
hundred and ninety-five: And whereas in connection with the
rights, powers, and privileges granted important industries have been 
established: And whereas the corporation have expended large sums,
totalling forty-four thousand pounds, under the provisions granted :

16 And whereas undertakings which have arisen out of the operations of 
the corporation have necessitated the construction of a branch line of 
railway not specifically included within the Principal Act: And
whereas the construction of such branch line over a parish road 
received the full authority of the Central Illaw^arra Municipal Council,

20 and it is advisable that such branch line and sanction should receive 
legislative approval: And whereas it is advnsable that provision should 
be made for adding further branch lines within the lands ow ned by the 
corporation: And whereas the rights of transit-charges and other
matters should be more clearly defined by enactment; And whereas 

26 under the provisions of the Illawarra Harbour and Land Corpora­
tion Act Amendment Act of 1895 the corporation have lodged with 
the Colonial IVeasurer the sum of ten thousand pounds : And whereas 
the corjwration requires still further time to carry out the remainder 
of its objects : Be it therefore enacted by the Queen’s Most Excellent 

30 Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Council 
and Legislative Assembly of New South Wales in Parliament assembled, 
and by the authority of the same, as follows:—

1. It shall be lawful for the corporation to continue the running L^i»u«n of 
upon and maintenance of traffic upon its branch line already con-

36 structed and leading from its main trunk line through the Lakelands 
Estate, the property of the corporation, and across Kanahooka-road, in 
the Borough of Central Illawarra. And the action of the municipal 
council in sanctioning the construction of such line over Kanahooka- 
road lx*, and is hereby, confirmed.

2. It shall be lawful for the corporation to construct, maintain, Authontjto 
and use any further branch lines upon lands at any time owned by the 
corpomtion, and to provide for a continuation of such rights of con- 
stnudion, maintenance, and user upon any lands so owmed when 
subdivided, and over, along, and across any road, street, lane, and

45 reserve in any and every such subdivision, subject to the terms and
conditions
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conditions as to freiglit-clmrges imposed in the Principal Act and 
in this Act: Provided always that in any and all cases where any Pron».
sncli extension or branch line shall cross any road, street, or lane, the 
authority of the Municipal Council of Central Illawarra, or any 

5 borough hereafter embracing the same or separating itself therefrom 
having any authority over such road, street, or lane, shall first bo had 
and obtained : Provided also that no extension of any branch line, No bnuMb iin«
excepting within the lands owned by the corporation at the commence- 
raent of this Act, shall be proceeded with until after the approval of witboat 

10 the Governor shall have been obtained.
3. It shall be lawful, notwithstanding the regulation of tolls Minimum eUrge- 

and charges prescribed in section thirty-two of the Principal Act, to
fix a minimum charge of sixpence per ton as a freight-charge upon all 
goods conveyed in owners’ trucks, drawn by owners’ locomotive, steam 

15 or other power, or ninepcnce when drawn by the corporation, using its 
own locomotive, steam or other power, and for the corporation to fix 
the intervals and sites of stopping places upon all lines constructed :

Provided that, with the exception of establishing such minimum 
charge, the general tenor and meaning of section thirty-two of tho 

20 Principal Act shall remain in full force and effect, aud no agreement 
entered into by the corporation prior to the passing hereof shall be 
affected hereby.

4. The conditions imposed under section one of the Principal incFewe of depth of 
Act shall be completed in accordance with the provisions specified

25 therein within the term of two years from the twentieth day of 
December, one thousand eight hundred and ninety-eight, subject, 
liow'cver, to the Governor having the right by proclamation at any 
time before the twentieth day of December, one thousand nine hundred, 
to direct that in the public interest the entrance and channel described 

30 in section one of the Principal Act shall be formed to a depth of 
twenty feet at low tide in lieu of the channel described in such section 
one. And the corporation shall, within four years from the date of 
such proclamation, form the said entrance and channel to the said 
depth of twenty feet:

35 Provided always that the sum of ten thousand pounds deposited ProTi«) m reg»rfi
by the corporation with the Colonial Treasurer on the twentieth day“> Trewurj. 
of December, one thousand eight hundred and ninety-seven, shall be 
retained by him as a security for the due completion of the work as 
in the Princij)al Act as amended or in tlie said proclamation appointed,

40 notwithstanding anything in the proviso to section one of the Illawarra 
llarlwur and Land Corjxjration Act Amendment Act of 1895, w'hich 
proviso is hereby extended in conformity with this Act. Such deposit 
shall not be liable to forfeiture until the time herein or by the said 
proclamation appointed for the completion of the work. And should 

45 the entrance and channel be not formed as aforesaid, all harbour rights
aud
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and privileges acquired by the said corporation under the Principal 
Act, the Amending Act, and by this Act, may be declared null and void.
And all reclaimed land shall revert to the Crown. And the said 
deposit of ten thousand pounds shall be liable to forfeiture : Provided 

6 that section one of the Principal Act shall be read and construed as if 
the term mentioned in such section had been ten years from the 
commencement of the said Principal Act instead of seven years as 
therein mentioned.

6. This Act may for all pulses be cited as the “ Illawarra sbon 
0 Harbour and Land Corporation Act Purther Amendment Act of 1898,” 

and shall be deemed to be incorporated with and construed as part 
of the said Illawarra Harbour and Land Corporation Act of 1890, 
which Act is hereinbefore called the Principal Act, and of the said 
Illawarra Harbour and Land Comoration Act Amendment Act of 1R95.
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